FEEDING STRATEGIES AND NUTRIENT

MANAGEMENT OF GRAZING

CATTLE IN URUGUAY

By

ALEJANDRO FRANCISCO LA MANNA

Ingeniero Agrónomo Universidad de la República Montevideo, Uruguay 1987

Master of Science Oklahoma State University Stillwater, Oklahoma 1999

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY May, 2002

FEEDING STRATEGIES AND NUTRIENT MANAGEMENT OF GRAZING CATTLE IN URUGUAY

Thesis Approved:

ONN Thesis Adviser

Jabbi Mus

le

198.4

Dean of the Graduate College

ii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my major advisors Dr. Hebbie T. Purvis II and G.W. Horn for their guidance, counsel and understanding of my graduate program. My appreciation is extended to my graduate committee members Dr. James D. Breazile and Dr. Arthur Stoecker for their patience and passion to teach their knowledge to me. I have a special appreciation for Dr. Fred Owens who encourage me to continue my studies and was always of great help to me in every stage of my studies.

I also want to express my gratitude to Tim Bodine for his cooperation and for the quality time we spent discussing ideas and projects all these years. I would like to thank Steve Welty for sharing his experience and for the care he took for all the aspects of my research. Also my gratitude to many professors of the Animal Science Department and from other departments who shared with me their tome, knowledge and wisdom. My appreciation and gratitude goes out to Patrick Kircher, Ricardo Basurto, Kathy Swenson, Christina Stout, Carolyn Lunsford, Afaf Melouk and Donna Perry for their assistance in my research. My gratitude goes out to Orlando de Jesus for all his help and to Norberto Ciccioli for all that time we spent discussing several aspects of our research. Also I would like to thank Drs. Callan Ackerman and Brett Gardner for encouraging me to continue with my studies and for their friendship all this time. My appreciation also to my fellow graduate students with whom from many of them I learned. My gratitude to Dr. C. Goad and Dr. M. Cabrera for their help and comments while reviewing parts of this thesis.

iii

I would like to thank for their financial support to the Instituto Nacional de Investigacion Agropecuaria (INIA) and the Department of Animal Science of Oklahoma State University. Also I would like to express my gratitude to the Inter American Bank for funding part of the research in Uruguay.

A special appreciation to my wife Adriana for her constant sacrifice, support, love and understanding during all this process, to my children Ignacio and Federica for their love and for making my life more enjoyable. Also my appreciation for my family in Uruguay for their love and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ch	Chapter Pa	
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	3
	What is nutrient management	4
	Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Potassium flux and cycle within the farm	4
	Sustainability	11
	Nutrient management in dairy farms	12
	Nutrient management in beef systems (range and feedlot)	16
	Nitrogen physiology of the ruminant	19
	Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen environment	19
	Protein, peptides and amino acid catabolism	20
	Nucleic acid catabolism	23
	Urea and other nitrogenous compounds catabolism	23
	The rumen ammonia pool	23
	Microbial protein and amino acid synthesis	24
	Nitrogen digestion and absorption in the small intestine	27
	Whole animal nitrogen metabolism	31
	Metabolism of urea and ammonia	32
- ·~ .	Amino acid, protein and nucleic acid metabolism	35
	Hormonal control of nitrogen metabolism	39
	Insulin and nitrogen metabolism	40
	Growth hormone (GH) and nitrogen metabolism	42
	Insulin like growth factor (IGF-I and IGF-II)	43
	Other hormones	45
	Phosphorus physiology in the ruminant	46
	Ruminal metabolism of phosphorus	46
	Digestion and absorption of P in the small intestine	47
	Whole body metabolism and hormonal control of phosphorus	48
	Potassium physiology in the ruminant	50
	Supplementation of high quality forages	52
	Feeding frequency	54
	Literature cited	60

Chapter

III	EFFECT OF THE FREQUENCY OF SUPPLEMENTING CRACKED	
	CORN ON ALFALFA HAY INTAKE, UTILIZATION AND	
	PERFORMANCE BY GROWING CATTLE	79
	Abstract	79
	Introduction	80
	Materials and Methods	81
	Experiment 1: Metabolism Trial	81
	Animals and Diets	81
	Sample collection and preparation	81
	Laboratory analysis	82
	Calculations	83
	Experiment 2: Performance Trial	84
	Animal and Diets	84
	Sample collection, preparation and analysis	84
	Statistical Analysis	84
	Results and Discussion	85
	Trial 1	85
	Intake and total tract digestibility	85
	NDF and ADF	86
	Nitrogen	87
	Ruminal parameters	87
	Volatile fatty acids	87
	Ruminal pH	88
	Dilution rate	88
	Ruminal ammonia	88
	Blood parameters	89
	Serum urea nitrogen	89
	Trial 2	90
	Weights and ADG	90
	Implications	90
	Literature Cited	91
IV	ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF FIVE DIFFERENT DAIRY SYSTEM	IS

I	V	7

OF	URUGUAY	
Abs	stract	
Intr	roduction	
Ma	terials and Methods	
	Description of the Models	
	Inputs	
	Outputs	
	Losses	
Results		
	Nitrogen	
	Phosphorus	

Potassium	
Implications	
Literature Cited	

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

CHAPTER III

1.	Chemical composition of the diet (DM)	94
2.	Scheme of feeding cracked corn supplement and how samples were	05
3.	Intake, digestibility and digestible intake of organic matter (DOMI) by	95
	steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of	
	cracked corn	96
4.	Total intake, fecal output and total tract apparent digestibility of ADF ash	
	free and NDF ash free and nitrogen by steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum	
	and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn	97
5.	Ruminal VFA concentration, acetate to propionate ratio, dilution rate,	
	pH area below a 6.2 line and the pH curve in 6 d and time in hours	
	that pH was under 6.2 for 6 d of steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and	
	three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn	98
6.	Initial, final weight and ADG of steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three	
	different feeding frequencies of cracked corn after 90d,	99

CHAPTER IV

1.	Principal technical parameters for the 5 models	121
2.	Annual sale of animals per hectare for the different models	122
3.	Total excretion of N and route of excretion for all the animals in the five	
	models	123
4.	Total excretion of P and route of excretion for all the animals in the five	
	models	124
5.	Total excretion of K and route of excretion for all the animals in the five	
	models	125
6.	Mass balance for N for the five models (kg N ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	126
7.	Mass balance for P for the five models (kg P ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	127
8.	Mass balance for K for the five models (kg K ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	128

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

Page

CHAPTER III

1.	Ruminal pH in steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding	
	frequencies of cracked corn	.100
2.	Example of the spline curves for the same steer in each period and	
	treatment	.101
3.	Ruminal ammonia in steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different	
	feeding frequencies of cracked corn	.102
4.	Serum urea nitrogen in steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different	
	feeding	.103

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

World population has been growing at substantial rates during this last century increasing the demand for food. This increment in food demand has spur agricultural food production by doubling it in the last 35 years but associated with an increment of 6.87 fold increase in nitrogen fertilization, a 3.48 fold increase in phosphorus fertilization, a 1.68 fold increase in cropland irrigated and a 1.1 fold increase in land cultivation (Tilman, 1999). At the same time, there has been an increasing concern of the public for environmental and water quality issues that has led to more regulations, codes or laws. Each of these regulations that affect cattle producers have resulted in alterations in management practices (Morse, 1996).

It is clear that sustainable practices are needed in order to increase food production without detrimental consequences for the environment. The need for studies that involve agrosystems can give us a clue for pointing out more efficient and environmental friendly production systems. Since nutrient management involves the integration of several aspects of farm agrosystems it has been visualized as an important tool to identify not only the more efficient management practices but also the type of practices that contribute to non-point pollution.

One of the key factors that can reduce the environmental impact from animal operations is to optimize the level at which nutrients are added to diets and minimize excesses. Feeding strategies that can reduce labor and nutrient loads to the environment can have an important impact. With the help of more accurate models to predict

requirements, producers can maintain performance while reducing environmental impacts (NRC, 1996). One model when applied in a dairy reduced nitrogen excretion by 25% while also reducing feed costs (Fox et al., 1995).

A challenge for animal nutritionists is to curtail adverse environmental impact by reducing nutrient losses and increasing nutrient recovery in edible products from the animal, while maintaining or enhancing productivity and/or economical benefits.

The objective of this research was 1) to quantify mass nutrient balances of five dairy agrosystems of Uruguay, and 2) to test the impact of the feeding frequency of cracked corn on intake, digestibility, ruminal parameters, average daily gain and as a tool for decreasing labor.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

In the last decades farms have been going through structural and technological changes. There has been an increase in the number of animals per farm, specialization of the farms and a larger number of confined animals. These factors have increased the amount of manure produced within the farm and the potential of polluting the environment. An increase in public concern for the environment has resulted in greater pressure for regulating manure management and minimizing possible contamination resulting in a series of changes in production practices. During the last 35 years agricultural food production has been doubled but it was associated with a 6.87 fold increase in nitrogen fertilizer utilization and a 3.48 fold increase phosphorus fertilizer utilization (Tilman, 1999).

In addition nutritionists usually recommend higher mineral concentrations relative to requirements due, among various possible reasons, to the fact that they feel NRC recommendations are not meet under practical conditions, that some minerals requirements are poorly described, and to provide a safety margin to prevent any likelihood of deficiencies (Spears, 1996). In diets analyzed by North Carolina feed testing laboratory the median concentration used in dairy diets for many minerals were several times higher (calcium 1.77; phosphorus 1.32; sodium 1.78; iron 9.76; zinc 2.70 for the ratio median:requirement) than the NRC requirements for lactating dairy cows and even

greater values for pigs (Spears, 1996). All these factors have increased pollution potential from farms into the environment.

Nutrient management has been seen as a possible tool for balancing the amounts of nutrients within a farm and reducing the possibility of polluting the environment. In this review, nutrient management, metabolism of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium in the ruminant and effects of some feeding and supplementation strategies will be discussed.

1. What is nutrient management?

Nutrient management involves the integration of several aspects of the farm operation (Klausner, 1995b). Nutrient management is a mass balance that begins with an accurate quantification of nutrients entering the livestock production system and nutrients leaving the system (Tyrell, 2001). Within the farm boundary there are inputs of nutrients (feed, fertilizer, legume N and rainfall), outputs (animal products and crops) and losses to the environment (ammonia volatilization, leaching, denitrification, runoff, and erosion) (Klausner, 1995a).

Farm fields are potentially non-point sources of pollution in which discharges of nitrates by leaching through the plant root zone, actually may be invisible to the normal observer (Lanyon, 1994). Nutrient management is the internationally accepted strategy for addressing non-point farm pollution (Beegle et al., 2000). The consequences of non point pollution may be seen far from the original discharged area, and the benefit of reducing this type of pollution may only partially accrue to the polluter (Lanyon, 1994). Also the problems with nutrient pollution are not generally the result of mismanagement

by farmers but the result of evolving agricultural systems with no direct costs associated with environmental quality (Beegle et al., 2000).

Nutrient management implies different components in the farm daily activities such as feed, manure management (collection, storage and application), fertilizer and crop selection, close records of the nutrients and the use of each paddock on the farm. This will be discussed in more detail within each system (dairy or beef).

The nutrients most implicated in pollution of the environment are nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) (Pell, 1992). In farms where excessive manure is used potassium (K) can be up to 4% of the haylage and can create nutritional problems when balancing a dairy ration for transition cows (Pell, 1992).

1.1. Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Potassium flux and cycle within a farm.

There are several general reviews for nitrogen (Cowling and Galloway, 2001; Galloway, 1998; Lin et al., 2000; van der Hoek, 1998) and phosphorus (Higgs et al., 2000; Smil, 2000) cycles that the reader can referred if interested in these subjects. This section will refer to the flux of these nutrients (N, P) and K within the farm boundaries.

Although all nutrient cycles are complex, the N cycle is particularly complex because N suffers changes in valency and state (usually mitigated by microbial transformation and action) and can form water soluble and gaseous compounds with considerable potential to escape from agricultural control (Jarvis et al., 1995). Nitrogen may enter the farm mainly as purchased feed, animals, and fertilizer or by legume fixation. The big concern with N is its high potential to move through soils and possible contamination of water threatening human and animal health from excess of nitrates

(NO₃) in water. Infants are sensitive to NO₃ that may cause blue baby syndrome (Hart et al., 1997).

There are several processes regarding N in the soil being the majors, mineralization, nitrification, denitrification, immobilization and ammonia volatilization (Klausner, 1995b). During mineralization organic nitrogen decomposes first to ammonia and afterwards ammonium is produced. In the process of nitrification ammonium is converted into nitrite and afterwards into nitrate being more rapidly if soil conditions are warm, moist and well aerated. During denitrification nitrate is converted into nitrite, which can be converted either to nitric oxide or through intermediates to nitrous oxide and released to the atmosphere. This last process occurs more rapidly if the soil is poorly aerated and or waterlogged. In the process of immobilization available, N in the soil is bound to the microbial biomass. Volatilization of ammonia can occur also when urea fertilizers or manure is applied onto the soil surface and not incorporated. Gaseous N losses, either through ammonia volatilization or through denitrification losses (N₂ and N oxides) are very difficult to quantify because of their dependence on environmental conditions and microbial activity (Sharpley et al., 1998).

Nitrogen in plants is absorbed mainly in two forms as nitrate or as ammonium. Nitrate, an anion, is not absorbed by the clay or organic matter in the soil, and is readily absorbed by plants or susceptible to leaching or denitrification since it is in the soil solution (Whitehead, 1995). Ammonium is a cation, is retained by cation exchange on the clay and organic matter and is less accessible to roots and to potentially pollute groundwater (Whitehead, 1995). The physiological control over the absorption of N may be disturbed by defoliation (grazing, cutting, harvesting) and return to previous

absorption rates does not occur for several days after defoliation (Jarvis and Macduff, 1989). Nitrogen is under many circumstances the second limiting nutrient to grass sward potential while water is first limiting (Jarvis et al., 1995). Under conditions of no limiting nutrient, herbage yield is controlled by the amount and timing of nitrogen fertilizer applications (Hemingway, 1999). Grass fertilization with N has different effects while dry matter production per unit of surface is increased in a curvilinear manner, crude protein in increased linearly (Kemp et al., 1979). The fertilization policy and the type of forage are also important in the losses of nitrogen to the environment. A study comparing the ratio of NH₃ losses in swards grazed by cattle one from ryegrass fertilized with 420 kg fertilizer N/ha and the other from a mixed ryegrass/white clover sward with no N fertilizer was 7:1 (Ryden et al., 1987). Results from several investigations suggest that fertilizer N, even when applied to grassland regularly has no effect on soil N unless the soil is extremely low in organic matter (Whitehead, 1995).

In productive grass clover swards legumes may be able to fix between 100-300 kg of N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ depending in the vigor of the clover (Whitehead, 2000). In ungrazed grasslands up to 100 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ can be transferred to grasses meanwhile in heavily grazed the same amount can be added by the excreta (Whitehead, 2000).

Forage quality can be manipulated by management, time of harvest and fertilization as the more important factors (Tamminga, 1996). Quality usually associated with higher digestibility is very important in order to reduce animal excretion of nutrients since a higher digestibility is synonym for fewer nutrients excreted.

The two primary forms of N in manure are ammonia and organic N being urine the major source of ammonia (Van Horn et al., 1994). About 50 % of the N in fresh

manure is present as urea that converts rapidly into ammonia and may be lost rapidly through volatilization (Klausner, 1995a). Urine is the major excretion pathway for rapidly available fertilizer-N (Powers and Van Horn, 2001). In an experiment in which ryegrass swards received either 420 or 210 kg N/ha per year where compared to a mixed ryegrass/white clover sward receiving no mineral N there were little differences in fecal N but there were differences in urine N of Friesian steers (74, 60 and 56 % of excreted returns, respectively) (Jarvis et al., 1989). The ammonia losses were equivalent to the urine losses and these authors found that there were little differences between the effects with the 210 N treatments and the grass/clover treatment. High N fertilization may reduce N efficiency by animals. The actual efficiency of N utilization by dairy cows in intensively managed pastures with high N fertilization is 16% when theoretically a 600 kg cow producing 25 kg of milk can have a maximum efficiency of 40-45 % (Van Vuuren and Meijs, 1987). On the other hand a decrease in N fertilization decreased organic matter digestibility (.02 units) but did not affect the site of digestion when comparing grass species harvested at the same age of regrowth (Peyraud and Astigarraga, 1998). Also dry matter production can be decreased with lower N fertilization having the farmer to reduce stocking rate and perhaps reducing its total farm income.

Phosphorus is less mobile in the soil than N. Phosphorus in water is not considered to be toxic to animals and humans. However, it has become of greater concern because of the possibility of producing eutrophication in surface waters (Sharpley et al., 1998). Even small amounts of P can increase the concentration above the critical value of eutrophication (Higgs et al., 2000). Although carbon (C) and N are with P the three elements to be concerned in eutrophication, fresh air water exchange, fixation of nitrogen

by blue green algae and photosynthesis make P the limiting element (Sharpley et al., 1998) and responsible of triggering the cycling of C and N (Smil, 2000). Aquatic nutrient eutrophication can lead to the loss of biodiversity, outbreak of nuisances' species and impaired of fisheries among others (Tilman, 1999).

Although variations between organic and inorganic forms of P in the soil can range from 10 to 90 % in most of the soils, including grasslands more than 50 % is inorganic (Whitehead, 2000). The inorganic forms of phosphate in the soil can be (i.) Phosphate present in the soil solution ($H_2PO_4^-$ and HPO_4^{2-}) (ii.) insoluble calcium phosphates (iii.) Phosphate adsorbed and possibly occluded by hydrous oxides (iv.) Phosphate adsorbed by clays, and (v.) phosphate in various unweathered minerals (Whitehead, 2000).

There are three main routes by which P can be lost from land these are in eroded soil, by surface runoff and leachate (Higgs et al., 2000). The adsorption of P by soil material usually increases the probability of surface runoff rather than leaching (Sharpley et al., 1998). However, the P adsorption capacity of soils is not unlimited and can leach if it is present in high concentrations in soils.

Plant take P as either $H_2PO_4^-$ or HPO_4^{2-} and the relative form depends of the pH usually the former is in higher concentration but as soil pH increases the proportion of the latter increases (Whitehead, 2000). According to this author the rate of absorption depends partly on the concentration in the soil solution near the root surface and partly by the rate of movement of the ions towards root surface.

A significant amount of P (almost 85%) in forages is present as phytic acid that in ruminants is completed hydrolyzed having a true availability of .65 to 1.0 (Minson,

1990). Usually about 95 % of the P is excreted in the feces (Tamminga, 1992). An increase in the urine excretion occurs when the concentration in the plasma increases exceeds the renal threshold of 60 to 90 mg P/L (Challa et al., 1989). At dietary concentrations of 0.24 % P, almost 75 % of P in feces is in the form of inorganic P (Barrow, 1987).

During the storage of slurry some mineralization of organic P occurs increases the amount of the inorganic form that can reach 80 % of total P (Whitehead, 2000). Plants equally absorb inorganic P from slurry as inorganic P fertilizer (Tamminga, 1992).

Potassium is more mobile than P in soils, however, it does not represent a threat to ground and surface water (Hart et al., 1997; Klausner, 1995b) or at least that we are aware (Paul, 1999). There is a maximum value for drinking water of 12 mg K/L but harmful effects are not well-documented and other foods such as milk may have values up to 1,500 mg K/L (Tamminga, 1996).

Most of the soils have an abundant supply of K, but only a very small part of it is readily available to plants (Cherney et al., 1998). Soil K is in various forms such as (i.) K in soil solution (ii.) ready exchangeable K (iii.) K changeable with difficult and (iv.) mineral K (Cherney et al., 1998). Clay soils have greater potassium firstly due to negative charge of the clay (Paul, 1999) and secondly because it is present in igneous rocks such as biotite micas (Whitehead, 1995).

Forage grasses are luxury consumers of potassium, the greater the availability the greater the K concentration (Cherney et al., 1998; Paul, 1999). Absorption of K depends on its concentration in the soil solution near the root zone (Whitehead, 2000). If this concentration is low (less 1mM), uptake across the plasma membrane is thought to be

mediated by a carrier protein across the plasma membrane releasing the K inside the cell but at higher K concentrations is transported increasingly by a relatively passive mechanism (Whitehead, 2000). The content of K and P in forage depends on herbage maturity within the growth cycle and the content of both decreases with declining crude protein concentrations (Hemingway, 1999). In an experiment carried out in New Zealand (Carran and Theobald, 2000) were they compared a system that had been 23 years with and without excreta, exchangeable K (available) was higher for the system with excreta than the one without.

If potassium levels in forages increase and exceed 3 % it may bring problems in dry cow nutrition such as milk fever, hypocalcemia, downer cow syndrome and in severe cases death (Hart et al., 1997; Horst and Goff, 1997).

Potassium in the diet of the animal is usually returned mainly through urine. Potassium in manure is mainly in a soluble form that is almost all readily available to plants and can be substituted for fertilizer K in a one to one basis (Klausner, 1995b).

1.2. Sustainability

Sustainability definitions have been address in many reviews and related to many different topics related to agriculture (George, 1999; Gibon et al., 1999; Hansen, 1996; Mebratu, 1998).

The World Conservation Union, United Nations Environment Program, and the World Wide Fund defined sustainable development for Nature in their report caring for nature (IUCN/UNEP/WWF, 1991) as " improving the quality of human life while living within the carrying capacity of supporting ecosystems".

Sustainability may become the first limiting factor according to the new USDA-EPA requirements for comprehensive nutrient management planning to protect water quality mainly in dairy farms (Fox et al., 2000).

It is important to start taking into account this issue in all the agricultural systems and within the definition above stated nutrient management appears as an important tool to achieve it.

1.3. Nutrient Management in Dairy Farms

Conditions change through different countries and states, however, there are several concepts that can be applied for every situation in what nutrient management concerns and really what changes are the parameters to be used in each particular situation (Bouldin and Klausner, 1998).

One of the more important components of nutrient management is how much feed and fertilizer are introduced to the farm and this is a function of the herd requirement, production targeted (crops and animals), and diet balance. Dairy production in most parts of the world has become strongly dependent of inputs to the farm mainly fertilizer and purchased feeds adding nutrients (Goh and Williams, 1999). In grassland systems that include legumes, fixation of N is an important source of input of N, most of the time as the most important as in many farms in New Zealand, Argentina, and Uruguay.

Nutrition has a big impact in the amount of nutrients we will have latter to dispose. Several reviews have addressed this topic (Powers and Van Horn, 2001; Tamminga, 1992; Tamminga, 1996; Tamminga and Verstegen, 1996; Van Horn et al.,

1996). In general the more balanced are requirements and feed and the higher its digestibility the lower the load of nutrients and the volume of the manure.

Nutrient management includes an important component that is called best management practices (BMP) of animal wastes. Best management practices are proper procedures and farming methods that look after a correct utilization of manure for an optimal plant growth and to minimize problems to the environment (Hammond et al., 1994; Lilly, 1991; Moore Jr, 1998). BMP's practices include proper nutrient management using agronomic rates of N and/or P (Eghball and Power, 1994; Klausner, 1995b; Moore Jr et al., 1995). Since N:P ideal relation for most of the crops is 8:1 (Moore Jr et al., 1995), generally we are adding more P than needed and soil accumulation will occur (Moore Jr et al., 1995; Van Horn et al., 1996). This occurs because manures are richer in P relative to N due to volatilized NH₃, denitrification under wet conditions and ability of many crops to luxury consume N (Van Horn et al., 1996).

Kohn et al (1997) made a sensitivity analysis of nitrogen losses from dairy farms and they concluded that improvements in animal diets would increase total farm N efficiency by 48 % through herd nutrition and crop management while targeting only manure management would be about one fourth as effective.

Due to the difficulty in measuring N losses to the environment in farms usually simulations of different scenarios are run through Monte Carlo techniques. St Pierre and Thraen (1999) simulated animal grouping strategies and economic factors and found that a 25 % increase in milk production reduced N excretion per kilogram of milk produced by 8%. Furthermore, understanding and controlling the effect of feed composition in the metabolism of the animal may reduce by an additional 8 % of the N excreted. Using the

same techniques Velthof and Oenema (1997) compared three farms with different nutrient management. The farm that included not only manure management but also in addition N nutrition care in the diet of cattle showed the lower emission of nitrous oxide (N_2O) , less than half that the farm that included only manure management.

Validating a N planner in two farms, Dou et al., (1998) found that a good overall management practice integration for one of the farms could not be enough without an animal ration balancing. The other farm in the study not only needed to improve feeding strategy but also crop selection and manure management. It is clear that when trying to minimize N pollution without affecting crop and animal production all components of a farm system should be considered.

Klausner (1995a) formulated a nutrient mass balance for N in several New York dairies of different sizes (45-1300 cows) and found the percentage N remaining on the farm expressed as N % varied from 61 to 76 percent.

Most of the N that is introduced in the farm stays on it or it is lost to the environment but it is not incorporated into animal or crop products (Aarts et al., 1992; Aarts et al., 2000a). Dairy cows on average use 25 to 30 % of the N that they consume (Chandler, 1996). As milk production increases, the excretion of N in urine and feces decreases per unit of milk produced (Chandler, 1996; St-Pierre and Thraen, 1999).

The percentage of protein in the diet has been studied by several authors (Cunningham et al., 1996) (Komaragiri and Erdman, 1997; Wu and Satter, 2000b) from a point of view of reducing nitrogen excretion in diets with corn silage, alfalfa and corn grain. Increments over 17 % of crude protein show little increment in milk production. Analyzing several experiments, Satter et al (2001) concluded that in a practical approach

is it possible to reduce from 17.5-18.5% to 16% through more precise ration balancing in high producing cows with the result of a 10-15% reduction in dietary N and 13 to 20% reduction in excreted N.

Dietary N usually not only affects N excreted but also affects relative amounts in urine and feces as was discussed in a previous section. Usually a decrease in total N in the diet decreases N in the urine, which is more unstable than the N excreted in feces.

Satter et al., (2001) suggest three strategies to reduce nitrogen excretion and these are an increase in the amount of microbial protein synthesized in the rumen, a balance between rumen undegradable protein (RUP) and rumen degradable protein (RDP), and balance of the amino acids mainly the essentials in the feed.

For the case of phosphorus we can control the entrance of it to the farm, usually may come in the feed or fertilizer, and under most of farm conditions is less probable to be lost to the environment. Usually the big concern is the buildup of P in soils heavily manured or that have not been used taking into account the requirements of crop and pastures producing a nutrient imbalance in the farm. Low mobility phosphorus also makes P depletion a gradual process being underestimated the cost of nutrient depletion and the benefits of fertilization with one season experiments (van Noordwijk, 1999).

In the Netherlands, dairy farms occupy 64 % of the land, it is calculated that 67 % of purchased P in feed or fertilizer doesn't leave the farm in the form of milk or meat (Aarts et al., 2000b). In this country farmers need to take close notes of inputs and outputs of nutrients (bookkeeping) with special emphasis to P and N in manure (Breembroek et al., 1996).

The possibility of reducing the amount of P in the feed to meet requirements and better crop-pasture management are the keys for a successful reduction of P to be loss to the environment. Reducing P in the diet by 33 % (.32% vs. .48%) resulted in P concentrations of feces and runoff from manure application of 52% and 10 times less (Satter et al., 2001).

Dairy cows usually excrete less than 1g P/d in urine but when fed 20 to 30 % more P than requirements they may excrete 3-5 g of P/d (Wu and Satter, 2000a). So overfeeding P may convert excreted P in more soluble compounds, which latter can be more suitable to be lost to the environment. According to Satter et al (2001) in U.S. dairy it is possible to reduce dietary P from .45-.50 to .36-.40%, which represents a 20% reduction in dietary P.

Usually in systems that rely more on concentrates the most important of P input is the feed (concentrate) while systems in New Zealand where pastures are a higher percentage of the diet, fertilizer is the main P input (Goh and Williams, 1999).

1.4. Nutrient Management in Beef Systems (range and feedlot)

In extensive rangelands cattle may usually graze underdeveloped and unfertilized swards. Usually the level of nutrient extraction is low (3 kg N/ha) as the annual inputs mainly coming from atmospheric deposition (2-10kg N/ha); (Goh and Williams, 1999). Losses by volatilization are relatively high but still low when compared with more intensive beef systems and may be affected by the presence or not of dung beetles. Usually the greater concern in these systems is the possibility of overgrazing which may lead to soil erosion and surface water contamination (Goh and Williams, 1999).

In improved grasslands the level of intensity increases, and there are more inputs such as fertilizer and fixation of N by legumes. While in extensive rangelands grass utilization may be 30 % (Coleman et al., 1977). In improved pasture systems utilization can reach 80 % and a cycling of almost 400 kg N ha ⁻¹ (Goh and Williams, 1999). If the improved grasslands include legumes usually for a high dry matter yield, high levels of P in the soil are required (20 ppm) although the amount will depend of the type of legume. There is not much information published on nutrient management in this type of system. Goh and Williams (1994) summarize 4 systems from the literature, rangeland, unfertilized ryegrass pasture, ryegrass white clover and fertilized rye grass pasture being their inputs of 9, 25, 175 and 435; outputs of 10, 19, 60 and 309 which imply total budget -1, 6, 115 and 126 (kg N ha⁻¹) respectively.

More concerns and more research have been done for feedlots due to the high level of intensification. In the U.S. 33 % of the beef production comes from feedlot (Eghball and Power, 1994).

Galyean (1999) reviewed aspects of nutrition either levels or forms of feeding with special concern to the environment. Feeding programs such as restricted feeding and phase feeding may decrease manure loads and the ability to accurately forecast nutrient input:output when the feed intake is fix (Galyean, 1999). In a survey of consultant nutritionists, reported by Galyean (1996), there was an increase of crude protein levels used by the consultants with respect to the factorial system of the 1984 NRC for beef cattle. However, this does not necessarily mean more nitrogen should be excreted. According to Galyean (2000), in the cases were dry matter intake (DMI) is less with a deficiency in degradable intake protein (DIP) an increase of DIP will increase DMI and

energy yield from the rumen will increase, increasing average daily gain (ADG) and increasing N retention. Therefore, as for dairy it is not only the levels of a nutrient that are given but also how balance with respect to other nutrients needed for efficient feedlot operations.

Analyzing 33 livestock operations in Nebraska (pigs and feedlots), Koelsch and Lesoing (1999) found that most of the farms had a substantial greater N inputs that managed outputs. Although there was great variability among farms these authors observed that formulation of diets and exporting manure nutrients to off-farm users had a great impact on reducing the nutrient imbalance.

Through nutrition it is possible to shift nitrogen losses to urine or feces. This may have a great impact on the amount of N that is volatilized from the pen. Using corn byproducts may shift fecal N to 50 % in urine and 50 % in feces (Bierman et al., 1999) while typical grain diets (85% grain) N in urine may account for 75 % (Satter et al., 2001). Erickson et al. (2000) through phase feeding were able to reduce N excretion and reduce volatilization.

Diet pH of urine and feces may affect N volatilization (Tucker and Watts, 1993). Lower pH enhances less volatilization since ammonia stays as ammonium.

Erickson et al. (1999) worked with yearling steers and observed that P requirements were not more than 0.14% of diet DM. The implications of this data is that P requirements for these animals seem to be below what is supplied by the grains in the diet (Satter et al., 2001). However, calves may need some P supplementation. Few experiments are reported in the literature with respect P requirements in the feedlots and further research is needed.

Manure and wastewater management in feedlots is important in order to control air (dust an odor), water (surface and ground) pollution, to improve environmental conditions, to recover nutrients and to comply with legislation (Sweeten, 1998).

2. Nitrogen Physiology of the Ruminant

The normal sources of nitrogen (N) for ruminants are dietary protein and nonprotein nitrogen (NPN). These dietary sources include a large variety of nitrogen forms such as nucleic acids, amino acids, proteins, peptides, nitrates, nitrites, urea, ammonia, amines and amides (Huntington and Archibeque, 1999). The fate of these nitrogen sources in the animal will be discussed in the following sections.

2.1. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen environment

The first step in nitrogen metabolism in ruminants usually occurs in the rumen. Bacteria are the principal rumen microorganism that are involved in protein metabolism (Broderick et al., 1991) while protozoa, and anaerobic fungus also carry out proteolysis, peptidolysis and deamination but to a lesser extent. More than 99 % of the rumen bacteria are strict anaerobes (Hungate, 1966). The microbial population of the rumen has a moderate proteolytic activity when compared with other proteolytic microbes (Wallace, 1996), but the length of time that particles are retained in the rumen allow a substantial breakdown of the dietary proteins (Broderick et al., 1991).

2.1.1. Protein, peptides and amino acids catabolism

Many of the predominant bacteria are proteolytic, but none of them are dependent on protein as its only energy source (Yokohama and Johnson, 1993). However, under most production conditions, the rumen bacteria are under energy limiting environments and may use the amino acids products of protein breakdown for energetic purposes (Wallace, 1994). Bacteria are the most important organism in breakdown of soluble protein in the rumen (Kopecny and Wallace, 1982). The principal proteolytic bacteria are *Bacteroides amylophilus, Prevotella ruminicola, Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* and *Streptococcus bovis* (Russell et al., 1981; Wallace and Cotta, 1997). These bacteria act on the proteins through proteases that are mainly associated with the wall of the bacteria (Kopecny and Wallace, 1982). Protein breakdown begins either by adsorption of soluble protein to the bacterial surface, by adsorption of bacteria to insoluble protein (Wallace, 1985; Wallace, 1994), or by the ingestion of a particulate substrate by protozoa (Wallace, 1994). The final products of proteolysis are usually polypeptides, oligopeptides, dipeptides, amino acids and ammonia (Broderick et al., 1991).

Although microbial species are very dependent of the type of diet (Hazlewood et al., 1983), different animals under the same diet and housed together may have completely different patterns of proteolytic enzymes (Wallace and Cotta, 1997) adding therefore an individual differentiation. Oligopeptides are degraded mainly by the peptidase activity of bacteria (Wallace, 1994) while protozoal peptidases are more active over dipeptides (Wallace et al., 1990).

Peptides breakdown differ according to the type of peptide. The structure of the N-terminus is crucial in determining degradation (Wallace, 1997). If this N-terminus is

mainly near glycine or proline or if the peptide has a negative charge it will be slowly degraded (Wallace, 1997). The predominant mechanism of peptide hydrolysis by the rumen microorganisms is dipeptidyl peptidase (Wallace, 1996) being *Prevotella ruminicola* the most important. These bacteria may account for more than 60 % of the total flora of sheep, eating silage (Van Gylswyk, 1990) while *Selenomonas ruminatium* can constitute 22-51% of the ruminal bacteria of animals fed cereal grains (Stewart and Bryant, 1997).

Most of the proteolytic microbes are capable of carrying out deamination (Morrison and Mackie, 1996). The ammonia production from deamination of amino acids is carried out mainly by Megasphaera elsdenii, Selomonas ruminatium and a few Butyrivibrio spp (Yokohama and Johnson, 1993). Amino acids are the most important source of ammonia in the rumen (Chalupa, 1976). Proteolytic activity increases in the rumen by increasing diet fermentability probably due to increased microbial biomass in the rumen (Broderick et al., 1991). Wallace (1996) distinguished two types of ammonia producing bacteria the high number low activity (Butyrivibrio fibriosolvens, Megasphaera elsdenii, P. ruminicola, Selenomonas ruminatium and Streptococcus bovis) that are monensin resistant with an activity of 10-20 nmol NH₃ min⁻¹ (mg protein)⁻¹ and the low numbers with high activity bacteria (Clostridium aminophilum, Clostridium sticklandii, and Peptostreptococcus anareobius) that are monensin sensitive with an activity of 300 nmol NH₃ min⁻¹ (mg protein)⁻¹. Although is of greater importance the high number with low activity bacteria, both type of populations can have a major impact on the nitrogen (N) retained by the animal.

The ruminal protozoal population is composed of flagellates and ciliates being the latter the more numerous (Jouany, 1996). The total mass of protozoa in the rumen is almost the same as that of bacteria being 2% of the weight of rumen contents (Yokohama and Johnson, 1993). Protozoa uses bacterial and feed protein that are available in the rumen, according to Jouany et al (1988) this is the reason why feed protein degraded in the rumen generally decreases when animals are defaunated. The engulfment of bacteria by protozoa may be selective or nonselective depending of protozoa and bacteria (Coleman, 1986; Jouany et al., 1988; Jouany and Martin, 1997). Unlike bacteria, protozoa have no ureases and cannot use urea or ammonia to synthesize amino acids (Onodera et al., 1977). Protozoa have a greater ability to ingest particulate matter and therefore being more active in degrading insoluble rather than soluble protein (Jouany, 1996). Protozoal consumption of bacteria probably accounts for a significant part of protein turnover and ammonia production in the rumen (Morrison and Mackie, 1996). It is estimated that up to 74 % of protozoal biomass is recycled within the rumen (Foulkes and Leng, 1989).

Anaerobic fungi are more abundant when the diet has a greater percentage of fiber and may contribute up to 8 % of the microbial mass (Fonty and Joblin, 1991). Although it is not clear if the function of fungi in the rumen is important (Yokohama and Johnson, 1993), it has been found that they posses certain metalloproteases (Morrison and Mackie, 1996). In general terms, according to these last authors, mettalloproteases are present in fungi and bacteria, while cysteine- and serine-type proteases predominate in bacteria and protozoa and asparticproteases are present in protozoa.

2.1.2. Nucleic acids catabolism

Nucleic acids can be 5 to 9.5 % of the total N in grasses and hay (Smith and McAllan, 1970). These same authors observed that the additions of DNA and RNA pure or as plant material are rapidly hydrolyzed in the rumen. McAllan and Smith (1973) observed in ruminal fluid in vitro that purine nucleotides formed hypoxantine and xantine while pyrimidine nucleotides formed uracil and thymine. Some protozoa are able to take intact nucleic acids from the medium (Coleman, 1980). However, the microbial ecology of nucleic acid metabolism is poorly understood (Wallace and Cotta, 1997).

2.1.3. Urea and other nitrogenous compounds catabolism

Urea is broken down rapidly in the rumen yielding ammonia and when urea is fed may result in an overproduction of ammonia and an inefficient N retention (Morrison and Mackie, 1996; Wallace and Cotta, 1997). Urease, an enzyme with nickel content is mainly associated with the bacteria population allows the animal to break down urea either in the feed or from endogenous sources (diffusion and saliva) (Wallace and Cotta, 1997). However, when the concentration of urea is the same as blood or there is not a microbial population urea won't be hydrolyzed (Cheng and Wallace, 1979). All other aspects of urea metabolism are discussed in the section on whole body urea metabolism.

2.1.4. The rumen ammonia pool

There is an optimal ammonia concentration that is necessary for adequate microbial synthesis. However, this value will depend of the type of diet and the animal

requirements for a certain level of performance. Values reported have ranged from 5 to 23 mg/100ml (Febel and Fekete, 1996).

According to Leng and Nolan (1984) the ammonia pool is formed from many sources as follows:

- Protein, peptides and amino acids
- Miscellaneous soluble N compounds such as urea, uric acid, nitrates etc. Urea can be either recycled or in the feed
- Ammonia excreted from protozoa
- Gaseous N. Some atmospheric N₂ can be fixed by *Methanobacterium ruminatum* (.7g N per day in sheep, Li Pun and Satter, 1975).

The routes of ammonia losses can be by uptake by bacteria, outflow from the rumen, and ammonia absorption (Leng and Nolan, 1984). Ammonia absorption through the ruminal wall will be discussed in whole body N metabolism.

2.1.5. Microbial Protein and Amino Acid Synthesis

Not all the protein in the rumen is degraded totally to ammonia. When the diet contains true protein isotope studies have shown that 40-60% of the bacterial N can be incorporated without mixing with the ruminal ammonia pool, indicating that the microorganism have the ability to take up amino acids and peptides and/or deamination occurs within the organism (Ørskov and Miller, 1988). The amino acids are taken up as simple amino acids or as dipeptides. Wright (1967) found that peptide carbon is more efficiently converted into microbial protein than amino acid carbon and larger peptides were more likely to be incorporated than small peptides. Argyle and Baldwin (1989)

found that saturation of microbial growth occurred at 10 mg/L of added peptides and resulted in a higher growth than the corresponding amount of amino acids. These same authors found that the number of amino acids in a given mixture were more important for microbial growth stimulation rather than a sole amino acid being limiting.

Nitrogen assimilation by bacteria is also influenced by the ruminal ammonia level (Leng and Nolan, 1984). Bacteria assimilate at a high level of ammonia through the enzyme NAD-glutamate dehydrogenase or at a low level by NADP-glutamate dehydrogenase and these two are the most common mechanisms. There are two more mechanisms that bacteria can use when they are out of this range. Wallace (1995) and Wallace and Cotta (1997) summarized ammonia assimilation as follows:

 At levels of ammonia Km ammonia (mM) = 20 to 33 the principal mechanism is through NAD-glutamate dehydrogenase and it is the usual mechanism under normal circumstances

 α -oxoglutarate + NADH + NH₃ \rightarrow Glutamate + NAD

- At high ammonia concentrations Km = 70 the enzyme acting is NAD-alanine dehydrogenase

 $Pyruvate + NADH + NH_3 \rightarrow Alanine + NAD$

 At lower ammonia concentration Km = 1.8 to 3.1 the principal mechanism is through NADP glutamate dehydrogenase

 α -oxoglutarate + NADPH + NH₃ \rightarrow Glutamate + NADP

- At Km concentrations of 1.8 there is also another mechanism through the action of glutamine synthetase- glutamate synthase

Glutamate + ATP + $NH_3 \rightarrow Glutamine + ADP$ and then

Glutamine + NAD[P]H + α -glutarate \rightarrow 2 Glutamate + NAD[P]

The assimilation of ammonia via NAD-glutamate dehydrogenase is the principal means of ammonia assimilation (Wallace, 1994). However, if ammonia concentration is low, efficiency of microbial growth is reduced because ATP is diverted from growth to the process of uptake of ammonia (Owens and Zinn, 1993).

The amino acid biosynthesis in bacteria also needs carbons to assimilate ammonia. Usually α -oxoglutarate is a central compound in aerobic organisms but in anaerobic organisms is obtained by partial Krebs cycle either forward or in a reverse direction depending of the bacteria (Wallace and Cotta, 1997). It is important for ammonia absorption both, the extra and intracellular pools, since for N fixation the extracellular N concentration should be high enough to maintain minimal intracellular concentration (Owens and Zinn, 1993). The ruminal ammonia concentration can be influenced by the diet, while carbohydrates degradation reduce it any dietary nitrogen usually increase it (Sauvant and van Milgen, 1995).

There are some special needs for certain bacteria that require certain type of amino acids. This is the case of cellulolytic bacteria that need branch chain volatile fatty acids in order to synthesize valine, isoleucine and leucine by reductive carboxylations and transaminations (Ørskov and Miller, 1988). However, little is currently known about the regulation of the enzymes of ammonia in this type of bacteria (Morrison and Mackie, 1996).

In protozoa there is also evidence of some de novo synthesis of amino acids but since protozoa usually utilize bacterial protein this mechanisms is of minor importance (Wallace and Cotta, 1997).

The biological value of the microbial protein leaving the rumen is approximately 66 to 87 compared with a value of 100 (Owens and Zinn, 1993). There are differences among bacteria nitrogen composition and these can be large. Although many of these differences may be explained by the different techniques used, still using the same techniques there are differences (Clark et al., 1992). Usually it has been observed that the nitrogen composition ratio nitrogen to diaminopimelic acid (DAPA) and N to purines are greater for the particulate associate bacteria than for the fluid associate bacteria (Clark et al., 1992).

Leaving the rumen we can have protein from the feed, microbial protein, amino acids, peptides, other non-ammonia compounds (NAN), and also ammonia. In addition to ammonia absorbed through the ruminal and omasal wall there has been demonstrated some peptide absorption in sheep such as Met-Gly and carnosine (Matthews and Webb, 1995). It is believed that some amino acid absorption occurs through the ruminal wall but the magnitude of this process was evaluated as insignificant (Webb and Matthews, 1994). However, the structure of the keratinized squamous epithelia makes this type of study difficult (Matthews, 2000).

In the abomasum, HCl and pepsin (an enzyme secreted here), which are part of the gastric juice, help to solubilize the protein and pepsin, starts cleaving some peptide bonds.

2.2. Nitrogen digestion and absorption in the small intestine

The small intestine is the major site of amino acid absorption. Once protein and amino acids reach the small intestine, the enzymes trypsin and chymotrypsin,
carboxypetidases A and B and elastases act on the proteins and yield oligopeptides, peptides and amino acids. These enzymes are secreted by the pancreas as proenzymes and are activated mainly by an enterokinase that is secreted in the wall by the mucosal epithelial (Breazile and Houghton, 2001). Although ruminants possess well developed protease activity at birth, in a review Harmon (1993) suggest that the young calf is more sensitive to nutritional modification of digestive enzymes (mainly pancreatic proteases) than are fully developed ruminants.

Once protein is digested to amino acids they are absorbed through a system of transporters. Usually these transport system have low affinities for substrates that have large capacities for transport, whereas those that display high affinities have low capacities for transport (Matthews, 2000). These transporters have been identified in selected tissues, cells and apical and basolateral membranes (Matthews, 2000). In the small intestine, there are at least five Na⁺ dependent cotransports systems and two independent Na⁺ coports in the microvillous (luminal) membrane of the intestinal absorptive epithelial cell (Breazile and Houghton, 2001). According to these authors there also has been identified two Na⁺ dependent cotransport systems and three independent Na⁺ coport transporters for amino acids in the basilateral membranes of absorptive epithelial cells. Reviews describing amino acid transporters in more detail can be found in Deves and Boyd, (1998), Palancin et al., (1998) and Mathews, (2000).

In sheep it is believed that it occurs also in cattle the major site for amino acid absorption seems to be the ileum (Webb and Matthews, 1994). This absorption at the most distal part of the small intestine may have a physiological explanation and it is that the pH of the first two thirds of it usually do not increase to 7, pH at which the proteases

enzymes start to be more efficient in the small intestine (Ben- Ghedalia et al., 1974). According to Webb and Mathews (1994) there are many factors that may influence amino acid absorption in the small intestine:

- influence of the digestion process may have on the site of absorption
- varying affinities of the collective complement of transporters
- capacity of transporter for individual amino acid
- distribution of transporters along the small intestine (Deves and Boyd, 1998;
 Palacin et al., 1998).

Not all amino acids are absorbed at the same rate. Generally, the dietary essential amino acids tend to be absorbed in greater amounts when considered on a percentage basis (Webb and Matthews, 1994). In most of the experiments studying amino acid absorption, methionine was the amino acid removed in larger quantities (Christiansen and Webb Jr, 1990b; Christiansen and Webb Jr, 1990a; Mac Rae and Ulyatt, 1974). There are also interactions between amino acids that affect their final absorption of them. Infusion of leucine to the sheep abomasum suppresses the appearance of lysine to the portal blood (Hume et al., 1972). Methionine was observed to diminish and limited absorption of valine, leucine, alanine, glycine, lysine and phenylalanine by the brush border cells (Moe et al., 1987; Phillips et al., 1979). However, not all relations are antagonist. The infusion of leucine increased the appearance of methionine in the portal blood of sheep (Hume et al., 1972) and methionine increased absorption of threonine when the last was in small concentrations (Phillips et al., 1979).

In some cases di and tripeptides are absorbed and are finally converted into amino acids by the brush border cells (Harmon, 1993; Webb et al., 1993; Breazile and Houghton, 2001). Results showed that peptide absorption may be largely by non mediated processes, but mediated processes are also present (Webb, 2000). The absorption of peptides may have an energy advantage when compared to amino acid alone. The absorption of peptides independent of carriers may occur by the envelopment by membrane vesicles (endocytosis) or by diffusion through existing membrane spanning channel proteins or paracellular pathways (Webb and Matthews, 1994). According to Webb and Mathews (1994), this type of peptide absorption is effected by extra and intra cellular peptide concentrations, by the signals affecting membrane endocytosis, by structural protein function, peptide size and charge relatively to channel protein size and charge and by the energy inside the cell.

In ruminants the effect of nitrogen intake show that the relation between net portal flux of amino acids and nitrogen intake is not as strong when compared to the ammonia N flux and nitrogen intake (Seal and Reynolds, 1993) mainly if these forms of nitrogen are highly digestible (Reynolds et al., 1991). It appears that the intake of metabolizable energy will predict in a better way the portal amino acid flux rather than nitrogen intake (Reynolds et al., 1994). This could be associated mainly with an increase of microbial protein that reaches the duodenum (Hoover and Stokes, 1991).

Tagari and Bergman (1978) found that there is a quantitative imbalance between amino acids disappearing from the gut and amino acids appearing in the portal blood in sheep. This observation has also been confirmed in cattle. Most of the glutamine and

almost all the glutamate and aspartate in the diet are catabolized by the small intestine intestinal mucosa and CO_2 accounts for 56-64% of the metabolized carbons in non ruminants (Wu, 1998). Glutamine is readily used for energy in the gut, supply of amide nitrogen for purine and pyrimidine synthesis (Seal and Parker, 2000). The use of a glutamine isotope for intestinal protein accounted for 73 % of the gross flux of amino acids across the small intestine of lambs (Gate et al., 1997).

The portal drained viscera (PDV) uses more glutamate and glutamine than it is available from dietary sources (Reynolds and Huntington, 1988). These amino acids are oxidized and their amino groups are transmitted to form alanine, serine and glycine (Bergman and Pell, 1984).

2.3. Whole Animal Nitrogen Metabolism

The liver controls the fate of the nutrients absorbed to the peripheral tissue through its central position and has an important function in detoxifying the organism of useless and/or substances that appear in large quantities. This role in nutrient partitioning (homeorhesis) of the liver is very important by the involvement in regulating insulin, producing growth factors (IGF-I), and removing from the blood of hormones (Lobley et al., 2000). In order to discuss nitrogen metabolism I will separate in ammonia and urea; protein and amino acids; and nucleic acid and hormonal control.

2.3.1. Metabolism of Urea and Ammonia

The metabolism of ammonia and urea in ruminants has been reviewed by Milligan and Kennedy (1980), Visek (1984), Parker et al., (1995) and Huntington and Archibeque (1999).

Physiologically ammonia in the rumen is as ammonium (NH₄) but it is absorbed as NH₃ so as ruminal pH increases absorption of NH₃ does as well. The amount of ammonia in the rumen reflects the solubility and fermentability of the dietary and endogenous sources of N (Huntington and Archibeque, 1999). Most forages have larger amounts of soluble nitrogen although it can range from 60 to 100 %. This increases the amount of ammonia in the portal blood depending of the liver to detoxify it. Also grains have a wide range of soluble nitrogen that may be affected by the processing. In growing beef cattle fed diets high in rumen soluble nitrogen, increase ammonia absorption by the portal blood viscera has been associated with net removal of amino acids by liver (Reynolds et al., 1991). Although the mechanism for this amino acid removal is unclear, it has been suggested that it may be due to an increase need for amino acid N requirement in transamination reactions to generate glutamate and aspartate which cannot be met by mithocondrial capture of ammonia as glutamate (Reynolds, 1992). Under conditions of high urea flux, the mitocondrial supply of NH₃ may not be sufficient inducing the obligatory use of amino acid nitrogen to maintain urea synthesis (Seal and Parker, 2000). It seems that under excess of ammonia and an increase of urea synthesis, the liver will be competing for amino acids with the rest of the organs and tissues for amino acids. In beef steers fed either an alfalfa based diet containing 17 % CP or a concentrate based diet with 12% CP at equal levels of metabolizable energy, net PDV absorption of α -amino

nitrogen was similar to both diets but net PDV absorption and liver removal of ammonia was more than doubled when steers were fed the alfalfa diet compared to the concentrate diet (Huntington, 1990). This increase in ammonia removal by the liver resulted in a doubling of urea removal by the liver, and resulted in a threefold increase in α -amino acid nitrogen removal which markedly reduced splachnic release of these amino acids for the other body tissues (Reynolds, 1992). A similar response was observed in beef heifers fed isonitrogenous diets with different concentrate to forage diets ratios (Reynolds et al., 1991). Continuing this line of thinking animals fed low quality forages diets with urea could the ammonia absorbed and removed by the liver be competing or reducing amino acids to the rest of the tissues and partly explain low responses when given urea to cattle with low quality forages diets?

Ammonia in the ruminant as in other mammals does not come only from what is absorbed in the diet. There is a net production of ammonia N by the PDV that can range from 16-95% of N intake and it is directly related to N intake (Huntington, 1990). Extrahepatic tissues such as muscle may produce free ammonia (Van Der Walt, 1993).

The blood arriving to the liver comes from the hepatic portal vein and the hepatic artery, although this last one is believed to make only a small contribution (Reynolds, 1995). The blood flow throughout the PDV is highly and positive correlated with their metabolic energy intake (ME) (Huntington, 1990). In the liver, periportal and perivenous cells have the enzymes of the ornithine cycle to form urea and to use glutamine synthesis for detoxifying the organism of ammonia (Meijer et al., 1990). The capacity of the hepatocyte to detoxify NH_3 directly to urea appears to be well adapted to large changes in portal NH_3 concentration being efficient in the removal at normal values usually found in

common diets (Meijer et al., 1999; Symonds et al., 1981). These cells contain also amino-acid degrading enzymes. A glutamine synthase system probably functions as a pericentral scavenger in order to eliminate any ammonia that might have escaped the urea cycle (Meijer et al., 1999). This system is a high affinity, low capacity mechanism while the urea cycle may be described as a low affinity, high capacity mechanism (Van Der Walt, 1993). It has been suggested that the major factors affecting the rate of ureagenesis in the liver are the intramitocondrial concentration of ammonia and the concentration of N- acetylglutamate (Van Der Walt, 1993). It has been hypothesized that pH is the major factor that determines the balance in the glutamine cycle, where glutamine production predominates at low pH and urea production predominates at high values (Van Der Walt, 1993).

The urea formed in the liver goes into blood and may be removed by the kidney or may be recycled to the rumen through saliva or the blood as well as other regions of the digestive tracts (Huntington and Archibeque, 1999). Urea may recycle to the rumen through two ways by saliva or by blood across the rumen wall. It is calculated that up to 70 % of the N secretion of the parotid gland may be urea recycling (Breazile and Houghton, 2001). This N recycling back to the rumen allows the ruminant to be able to live with lower amounts of nitrogen in the diet. The lower the nitrogen in the diet the higher percentage of N is recycled (Owens and Zinn, 1993). The principal factors affecting the rate of endogenous urea transfer from the blood to the lumen of the gastrointestinal tract are the organic matter digestibility, plasma concentration of urea, and ruminal ammonia concentration being the first two positive and the last one negative related (Kennedy and Milligan, 1980). Huntington and Archibeque (1999) stated that

some other factors may also be involved in urea transfer such as capillary blood flow and CO_2 tension.

The diet composition affected the site of urea N flux across the PDV of steers, when fed hay urea was transformed mainly to the post stomach, when fed concentrates these same steers urea flux shifted to the rumen (Huntington, 1990). Urea recycled to the gut, production and excretion is linked to diet composition, intake and productive priorities of the animal and from 19 to 96% of endogenous production may be recycled to the rumen (Huntington and Archibeque, 1999).

Seal and Parker (1996) demonstrated that the volatile fatty acid pattern in the rumen influences the N metabolism and the amino acid flux to the portal vein. Additional energy also reduces the proportion of urea-N in urine when the N supply increased (Huntington and Archibeque, 1999; Parker et al., 1995).

2.3.2. Amino acid, Protein and Nucleic acid metabolism

The absorbed amino acids absorbed are carried by the portal vein to the liver. The PDV uses amino acids from dietary and endogenous sources (Tagari and Bergman, 1978) using more glutamine and glutamate than are available in the diet (Harmon and Avery, 1987). These two amino acids are oxidized and the amino groups are transformed to form alanine, serine and glycine (Bergman and Pell, 1984). However, in the liver there is a net uptake of glutamine and an output of glutamate (Bergman and Pell, 1984; Reynolds, 1992). In experiments where urea was added to ruminant diet, an increased hepatic NH₃ uptake was seen, but glutamine uptake was either unchanged or slightly increased (Maltby et al., 1991). Glutamine and glutamate are interconvertible and the amount of

glutamate transported depends on the quantity of the first (Bergman, 1986). In most species, glutamines appears to be the more abundant amino acid in tissues (Lobley et al., 2001). The amino group of glutamine is important in ammonia detoxification and in acid base balance and being the more common free amino acid ensures that this is the probable amine donor (Lobley et al., 2001). Glutamine appears to act as a nitrogen carrier between the kidneys, muscles, liver and PDV and it is also used to neutralize acids produced during the acidosis resulting from fasting (Bergman and Pell, 1984). This shuttle of glutamate and glutamine between liver and peripheral tissues provides a mechanism for transporting ammonia in a safe way to be detoxified by the liver via ureagenesis (Reynolds, 1992).

Gluconeogenic amino acids such as glycine and alanine are absorbed in the greatest amount by the PDV but even larger amounts are removed from the liver (Bergman, 1986). This is important since free amino acids are major players in the interorgan exchange of carbon and nitrogen in ruminants mainly between peripheral tissues and the liver (Reynolds, 1992). Alanine has been found to be removed also by the kidneys apparently for gluconeogenesis, but in the hindquarters alanine was consistently released in sheep (Brockman and Bergman, 1975). Also glutamine, glycine and arginine are important in the transport of amino groups derived from deaminated amino acids in muscle (Bergman, 1986).

The liver removes arginine and it is released as citrulline and ornithine, but in contrast the kidney and hindquarters released arginine and removed citrulline and ornithine (Bergman, 1986).

Most of the amino acids are removed in a net basis by the liver with exception of glutamate as previously explained and the branched chain amino acids (BCAA) that are usually released by the liver (Bergman, 1986; Seal and Reynolds, 1993). The BCAA have the lowest rates of fractional removal, under a wide range of physiological and nutritional conditions, in both cattle and sheep (Lobley et al., 2000). The capacity of the liver to remove BCAA is limited and extrahepatic tissues must carry out the further removal (Lobley, 1992).

The removal of amino acids by the liver is important since this organ is a major site of glucose, protein or urea synthesis and the peripheral tissues are major sites of glucose and protein turnover (Seal and Reynolds, 1993). According to Wray-Cahen et al. (1997) there are four possible fates of the absorbed amino acids in the liver and these are (i.) retention in the free form, (ii.) conversion to specific metabolites, (iii.) oxidation and (iv.) incorporation into hepatic and export proteins.

Generally the nonessential amino acids are removed in excess to essential amino acids and results in a total splachnic release for glutamate, lysine and BCAA (Reynolds et al., 1994). In the fasted ruminant the BCAA leucine that is released from muscle turnover is used by the liver contributing towards protein synthesis rather than acting as an oxidative substrate (Pell et al., 1986).

All the tissues have common energy dependent maintenance processes that are protein turnover, substrate cycling, and ion transport (Harris and Lobley, 1991). The PDV and liver have a high protein turnover by themselves. In general, amino acids use by the PDV are related to the high rate of protein synthesis in the PDV (Lobley et al., 1980). The liver has a large metabolic oxygen consumption accounting for 18-26% of whole

body oxygen consumption of beef heifers (Reynolds et al., 1990). The liver increases the consumption of oxygen as intake increases at a greater rate than the PDV and it is not reduced during fasting as markedly as the PDV (Reynolds, 1995).

Many metabolic processes are carried out by the liver, among them protein synthesis. In sheep and cattle the liver can account for 9 to 13% of body protein synthesis (Davis et al., 1981; Eisemann et al., 1989). The hepatic protein content is determined by the relative rates of protein synthesis and degradation and the export of protein to extracelluar fluid (Meijer et al., 1999). According to these authors turnover of liver proteins rapidly responds to the increase in amino acid supply during and after meals by an increase in protein synthesis and a decrease in the rate of protein degradation while in fasted animals the opposite occurs.

Whole body protein turnover per unit of body weight in the adult mammal is inversely related to metabolic body size (Buttery, 1984). In well-fed animals protein degradation in muscle and other tissues is similar in magnitude to that of protein synthesis (Harris and Lobley, 1991).

Nitrogen arising from the catabolism of peripheral tissues is carried to the liver as alanine, glycine or glutamine for urea synthesis avoiding excessive release of ammonia (Seal and Reynolds, 1993). Amino acid flux through the body is very important and this flow from protein turnover exceeds that of intake by two to threefold while N at maintenance, amino acid catabolism is 6 to 10% of flux but still is equal to net absorption (Harris and Lobley, 1991).

The skin utilizes as much glucose as muscle and a lower amount of acetate per unit of weight compared with muscle, however, both tissues have different requirements

for oxygen since a significant proportion of glucose is degraded anaerobically as part of the lipogenic demand (Harris and Lobley, 1991). Due to anaerobic metabolism of epidermis lactate is produced (Breazile and Houghton, 2001). The gut and skin represent almost 50 % of total protein synthesis on a daily basis but only contribute to 10 % of total body accretion, meanwhile muscle values are approximately 17 % for protein synthesis and 36% for protein accretion (Seal and Parker, 2000).

2.4. Hormonal Control of Nitrogen Metabolism

The nitrogen metabolism in the body is controlled in part by hormones, which respond to different signals and regulate the flow of nutrients among tissues. In ruminants not all the tissues respond to all the hormones. The ability of tissues to respond to hormones may vary with physiological age, nutritional, and pathological state and there can be changes in responsiveness due to sensitivity (Kahn, 1978).

Generally it is considered that there are two types of control in the body for the regulation of nutrient partitioning, homeostasis and homeorhesis. The homeostatic control acts so that despite challenges from the external environment the internal environment remains relatively unchanged. In the short term after a meal the homeostatic control exerted by insulin and glucagon results in a relatively constant supply of nutrients to the peripheral tissues by promoting the storage of nutrients and the mobilization of these in the postabsorptive period (Bauman and Currie, 1980).

Homeorhesis is the integrated changes for the priorities of physiological state that occur in nutrient partitioning for processes such as growth, pregnancy and lactation (Bauman et al., 1982; Bauman, 2000; Bauman and Currie, 1980). Homeorhetic

adaptations, therefore, allow for chronic alterations or even redirection of physiological processes while still allowing homeostatic systems to preserve constant conditions constant (Bauman, 2000). Homeorhetic controls have been cited in processes such as puberty, ageing, chronic undernutrition, chronic illness, hibernation, premigration and migration, egg laying, incubation anorexia, seasonal cycles and exercise (Bauman, 2000).

During the increase demand for lactation and growth, feed intake increases and changes are seeing in the liver and intestinal epithelial size increases. The supply of nutrients to such tissues is dictated in turn by the availability of nutrients, nutrient uptake by the tissues, activity by the tissue enzymes and blood flow (Bickerstaffe, 1993).

The principal hormones that interact in nitrogen metabolism are discussed briefly.

2.4.1. Insulin and nitrogen metabolism

Insulin acts on a variety of tissues and alters a variety of processes as enzyme activity and enzyme amount (Vernon and Sasaki, 1991). It also stimulates the transport of glucose into the muscle, and protein and amino acid sequestration in all target issues (Berne and Stanton, 1998). In cattle and sheep a raise in insulin concentration increased the glucose arteriovenous difference across the hind limbs, which could be to increase glucose uptake by skeletal muscle (Vernon and Sasaki, 1991). If it is administered in a basal state, insulin lowers the plasma of all amino acids and after a protein meal insulin secretion rises and limits the essential BCAA in blood (Berne and Stanton, 1998).

In the liver, insulin rapidly inhibits glycogenolysis and therefore glucose output and also inhibits gluconeogenesis. This last inhibition is accomplished by decreasing the

hepatic uptake of precursor amino acids and their availability from muscle (Berne and Stanton, 1998).

Both protein anabolism and glycogen storage of glucose require at cellular level that insulin exerts an effect on the transport of glucose, phosphate, monovalent cations and amino acids transport into cells (Messina, 1998). This hormone even in those cells in which it has no direct effect on DNA synthesis can also induce protein synthesis and it also inhibits protein degradation (Messina, 1998). According to this author insulin can also regulate a number of genes whose products are associated with cell differentiation or cell proliferation.

The response to insulin varies with the physiological state (growth, pregnancy, lactation), diet and type of tissue. This different responsiveness to insulin in the ruminant is part of the orchestrated changes that occur in the body in response to the above physiological states and diet and is called homeorhesis. During late pregnancy there is insulin resistance with respect to glucose utilization in the whole animal (Hay et al., 1988). In the onset of lactation there are some responses to insulin that are attenuated such as gluconeogenesis inhibition (liver), fat synthesis (adipose tissue), glucose uptake (muscle), and glucose oxidation (whole body) (Bauman, 1984; Bauman, 2000; Vernon and Sasaki, 1991). During early lactation, there is almost no response to insulin for glucose and acetate uptake by the adipose tissue, and also by the hindlimb where the responsiveness to insulin is substantially reduced but not the sensitivity to insulin reducing glucose uptake (Bauman, 2000). However, the complexity of endocrine control of nutrient partition is likely to be complex with overlapping systems involving many synergisms (Bauman and Currie, 1980). Homeorhesis is also believed to occur during

growth were nutrients are first channeled to the central nervous system, bone, muscle and fat, respectively, at different ages from conception to maturity (Bauman, 1984). In older animals there is almost no response to insulin in muscle protein synthesis, showing a chronological attenuation (Nieto and Lobley, 1999).

Nutrition affects hormone release and their receptors acting the body different according to the signal received. Fasted animals have a greater response to insulin that animals well fed (Nieto and Lobley, 1999). There is some evidence that the insulin to glucagon ratio may be determining the amino acid partitioning between the liver and the peripheral tissues in the transition from fasted to fed (Lobley, 1994). According to Lobley (1994) insulin will be more sensible to be the one to change the ratio insulin to glucagon since the latter is much less sensitive to intake. Feeding rations with high amounts of concentrates can change the partitioning of energy in ruminants away from milk production towards body gain in a mechanism believed to be related to an insulin peak after a meal (Hart, 1983).

Insulin action may also be influenced by the BCAA, mainly leucine which may act as a possible signal of nutrient availability to peripheral tissues (Lobley, 1998). In conditions of supramaintenance protein metabolism may be more influenced by the growth factor – insulin like growth factor I axis (Nieto and Lobley, 1999)

2.4.2. Growth hormone (GH) and nitrogen metabolism

There are several reviews of growth hormone action in tissues (Bauman and Vernon, 1993; Berne and Stanton, 1998; Breier and Sauerwein, 1995; Burton et al., 1994; Etherton and Bauman, 1998; Müller et al., 1999; Pell and Bates, 1990)

Growth hormone is an anabolic hormone, stimulates cell division, skeletal growth and protein synthesis and it is also lypolitic (McDowell and Annison, 1991). Growth hormone increases bone growth and decreases protein degradation (Breier, 1999) and it is also diabetogenic (Hart, 1983). Growth hormone increases nitrogen retention in animals given this hormone and there was seen a decreased excretion of urine nitrogen and α amino acids in cattle (Eisemann et al., 1989; Etherton and Bauman, 1998). Eisemann and coworkers (1989) also reported an increase in whole body protein synthesis and a reduction of leucine oxidation. In dairy cows there has been reports of increasing milk protein with exogenous GH (Etherton and Bauman, 1998).

Nutritional status has a major role in determining circulating GH concentrations and is elevated as a result of undernutrition (Breier, 1999). According to Breier (1999) high concentrations are the reflection of the influence of factors such as hypoglycemia, stress, and low serum free fatty acids on the pituitary secretion of GH. However, also GH blood levels increase after a high protein meal or the infusion of a mixture of amino acids, being arginine the most consistent amino acid stimulator (Berne and Stanton, 1998).

Many of GH actions are carried out by the peripherally generated somatomedins and the insulin like growth like factors IGF I and IGF II either locally or systemic (Nieto and Lobley, 1999; Owens et al., 1993).

2.4.3. Insulin Like Growth Factor (IGF-I and IGF-II)

Various tissues synthesize insulin like growth factors, which are a family of polypeptide hormones related to insulin, and it is believed they act through autocrine,

paracrine, and endocrine mechanisms (McMurtry et al., 1997). The IGF's are released after the GH target certain tissues such as liver and muscle and stimulate among other function protein synthesis. The GH receptor (GHR) is present in high concentrations in liver and in lower concentrations in muscle, growth plate, fat, heart, kidney, brain and placenta (Breier and Sauerwein, 1995). The interaction between GH and the GHR initiate the secretion of IGF, which in turn promotes proliferation and differentiation (Breier and Sauerwein, 1995).

In a series of experiments it has been found that the plasma concentration of IGF-I correlates well with the growth rate of young animals given diets with proteins of various nutritional values and with the rate of whole body protein synthesis (Dawson et al., 1998; Noguchi, 2000). Growing steers kept at maintenance showed a marked reduction in GH binding to hepatic membranes, elevated GH secretion and a fall in IGF-I levels and no changes of this level even through intravenous GH administration (Breier and Sauerwein, 1995).

Apparently, the current data shows that the IGF action on muscle is via an endocrine rather than an autocrine or paracrine mechanism (Lobley, 1998). Most of the growth responses of IGF-1 is by the receptor (IGF-1R) which shows a close relation to the insulin receptor with a similar subunit structure and some immunological determinants in common (Breier and Sauerwein, 1995).

Insulin like growth factors are carried in blood by binding proteins (IGFBP) and are recognized till now six different types of IGFBP which apparently may have other biological functions than carrying IGF such as cell growth, modification of cell bone proliferation, and growth arrest of breast and prostate cancer cells (Hwa et al., 1999). As

said above reduced nutrition reduce affinity of GHR and a reduction of IGF-I concentrations, however, relative changes in IGFBPs concentrations and tissue specific alterations in IGF-I receptor concentrations may sustain the availability of IGF-I for those tissues that are critical (Breier, 1999).

The relations among GH, IGF-I and insulin suggests that in the fasted animal, where both insulin and IGF-I are low, muscle protein degradation will be elevated and synthesis will be suppressed but as intake increases over maintenance with adequate protein levels insulin will cease to exert any major additional effect on protein metabolism and GH/IGF-I will stimulate synthesis and degradation but the latter at a lesser extent (Lobley, 1994).

2.4.4.. Other Hormones

There are other hormones that may act by themselves or by facilitating the action of insulin, GH and IGF-I either by acting on tissues and/or nutrient availability.

Prolactin is very important during the onset of lactation by altering the nutrient partitioning, synthesis of milk, and maintenance of milk secretion (Freeman et al., 2000). Prolactin has been reported to increase nitrogen retention in several species (Bauman et al., 1982). It increases mammary tissue growth (Knight, 2000), and as a result of binding to its receptor induces transcription of genes for the milk proteins casein, lactoalbumin and β -lactoglobulin and also stabilizes their mRNAs (Berne and Stanton, 1998).

Glucagon has mainly the opposite action of insulin, however, it doesn't act over the mammary gland. It increases glucose free fatty acids and ketone bodies in the blood. Its ratio with insulin is more important than its concentration by itself. If a protein meal

is fed, insulin secretion increases, preventing unneeded proteolysis and facilitating amino acid intake but at the same time glucagon secretion increases preventing the decrease in hepatic glucose output (Berne and Stanton, 1998).

Epinephrine and norepinephrine increase lipogenesis, glucose concentration in blood, and the use of glycogen by the muscle.

Glucocorticoids indirectly facilitate the action of other hormones (Vernon and Sasaki, 1991). Cortisol also maintains glucose production from protein, facilitates fat metabolism, modulates central nervous system and profoundly affects the immune system (Berne and Stanton, 1998).

3. Phosphorus physiology in the ruminant

Phosphorus is the major anion of intracellular fluids and the second most abundant mineral found in the animal body. About 80 % of the body phosphorus (P) is in the skeleton (bone and teeth) with the remaining 20 % in nucleotides such as ATP, nucleic acids, phospholipids and other phosphorylated compounds involved with metabolism and in maintaining the acid-base balance of body fluids (NRC, 2001; Soares Jr, 1995).

3.1. Ruminal metabolism of phosphorus

Ruminal microorganisms require P for their growth and cellular metabolism (NRC, 1996; Ternouth et al., 1985). Microorganisms also required P for the digestion of cellulose and for the synthesis of microbial protein and volatile fatty acid production (Breves and Schröder, 1991; Burroughs et al., 1951). The recommended available

phosphorus in order to optimize degradation of cell walls by the microbes from dietary sources and salivary recycling in the rumen should be at least of 5 g/kg of organic matter digested (Durand and Komizarczuk, 1988). The optimal concentration in the rumen for having undisturbed microbial metabolism can range from 0.7 to 2.6 mM (Breves and Schröder, 1991).

Much of the phosphorus in grains is in the form of phytic acid, which is a problem for non-ruminants but not for ruminants and is only produced and stored during seed production by the plant (Marschner, 1995). Most of the data published suggest a complete hydrolysis of phytate by rumen microbes and almost the same bioavailability than inorganic P (Pi) for ruminants (Soares Jr, 1995).

There is some controversy if P and Pi are absorbed from regions of the digestive tract cranial to the duodenum. The results of these studies differ greatly; some workers didn't find either absorption or secretion, while some others found net absorption or net secretion. Injection of the tracer ³²P into the rumen or intravenously showed that the rumen epithelium was permeable to Pi in both directions, but only in insignificant amounts (Ternouth et al., 1985; Ternouth, 1997; Yano et al., 1991).

3.2. Digestion and absorption of P in the small intestine

The absorption of P takes place, as with Ca, in the duodenum by both active and passive absorption (Braithwaite, 1984; Kincaid, 1993; Wasserman, 1981). No matter how P is ingested its absorption will depend on its solubility at the point of contact with the absorbing membranes (Braithwaite, 1984; Maynard et al., 1979). Phosphorus absorption also is influenced by intestinal pH, animal age, and intake of calcium (Ca), iron,

aluminum, potassium (K) and magnesium (Mg) (Braithwaite, 1984; Hays and Swenson, 1993; Mc Dowell, 1992; McDowell, 1992). The low digesta pH in the abomasum results in P to be found in a soluble form in the duodenum and the jejunum which facilitates the absorption (Ternouth, 1997). Phosphorus is absorbed in the ortho phosphate form (Kincaid, 1993). Absorption of P is further stimulated by a pH gradient across the brush border membrane (Breves and Schröder, 1991; Care, 1994; Yano et al., 1991). When the supply of P exceeds requirement the efficiency of absorption is reduced (Care, 1994). Phosphate absorption is increased by vitamin D₃ which may change membrane permeability, alter configuration of a phosphate carrier, stimulate pump sites, or by Ca absorption, indirectly increasing P absorption by decreasing the degree to which P is insolubilized by Ca (Kincaid, 1993).

3.3. Whole body metabolism and hormonal control of phosphorus

The levels of inorganic P in plasma are not under strict homeostatic control as with respect to Ca (Kincaid, 1993). Plasma Pi concentration is normally between 1.3 and 2.6 mmol/L or 4 to 8 mg/dL (Goff, 2000). Unlike non ruminants in which the kidney plays a fundamental role in P homeostasis, in ruminants the kidney's role is not as important because saliva and endogenous fecal loss help to keep P levels in place. Saliva is an additional source of P for the rumen with concentrations ranging from 370-720 mg/liter in mixed saliva, much higher concentrations than that found in plasma (60 mg/liter) (Yano et al., 1991). In dairy cows between 30 and 90 g/d of phosphorus is secreted daily into saliva (NRC, 2001).

The factors that affect P secretion of saliva are the time spent ruminating (chewing activity) and the parathyroid hormone (PTH) status of the animal (Goff, 2000). There was also found a relationship between physical form and absorptive efficiency of P, with higher efficiencies for unchopped hay compared with chopped hay (Yano et al., 1991). This is probably explained by the higher volume of saliva produced by the animal eating unchopped hay, and this has also been seen in dairy cows on diets containing more neutral detergent fiber (NDF) (Khorasani et al., 1997) which resulted in both cases in more salivary P and more P available in the duodenum (Yano et al., 1991).

The action of PTH is to regulate mainly calcium metabolism, maintaining its level in blood through its actions in bone (increases resorption) and on the kidney (increases reabsorption) being its secretion is inversely related to calcium blood levels but independent of plasma phosphate levels (Scott, 1986). Parathyroid hormone increases renal and salivary excretion of P and this can be a reason why hypocalcemic animals may tend to become hypophosphatemic (Goff, 2000). In ruminants P depletion does not induce significant changes of plasma 1,25(OH)₂D₃ and didn't affect V_{max} of Na⁺-linked Pi uptake across jejunal brush border of growing goats (Breves et al., 1995). However, the V_{max} of the H⁺/Pi cotransport mechanism increase to P depletion in sheep proximal small intestine (Breves et al., 1995). For Goff (2000) the secretion of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D can be secreted in response to low plasma P levels, but this must be very low (less than 1 or 2 mg/dL). More research is needed in order to understand the effects of P depletion at the cellular level in ruminant species.

Parathyroid hormone stimulates 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D secretion by the kidney increasing phosphate absorption in the small intestine, however, PTH is secreted in response to hypocalcemia and not hypophosphatemia (Goff, 2000).

Phosphate absorption is increased by vitamin D_3 which may change membrane permeability, alter configuration of a phosphate carrier, stimulate pump sites, or by Ca absorption, indirectly increase P absorption by decreasing the degree to which P is insolubilized by Ca (Kincaid, 1993).

Calcitonin, a hormone secreted by the thyroid glands exerts hypocalcemic influence by inhibiting osteoblastic bone resorption and urinary P reabsorption at the renal tubule in monogastric animals (Yano et al., 1991). However, its function in ruminants its not totally clear.

In ruminants, P is excreted mainly in the feces. When plasma P level is high, 2.0 to 2.5 mmol/liter, the kidney will excrete P (Challa and Braithwaite, 1988). When high concentrate diets are fed, more P is excreted in the urine of cattle (Mc Dowell, 1992) or when diets contain no long fibrous materials requiring rumination (Ternouth, 1997).

4. Potassium physiology in the ruminant.

The major cation in intracellular fluid, potassium is involved in the regulation of osmotic pressure, water balance, muscle contraction, acid-base balance, nerve impulse transmission, and certain enzymatic reactions (Miller, 1995). Potassium also is important in the transport of oxygen and carbon dioxide through blood, being responsible for at least half of the carbon dioxide capacity of the blood (Mc Dowell, 1992). Potassium helps to maintain the electrical neutrality before buffering of hydrogen ions by hemoglobin in

blood, by keeping an ion balance with the carboxyl groups (Reece, 1993). After ionization of carboxyl groups is suppressed by hydrogen ions, electrical neutrality of K ions is maintained by bicarbonate and chloride ions (Reece, 1993)

Potassium, as well as sodium, is a component of the ATP-Na-K pump, which maintains a concentration gradient important for the transport of substrates through the cell membrane, and for the regulation of the osmotic pressure (Mc Dowell, 1992).

Potassium is mainly absorbed from the rumen, omasum and the lower gastrointestinal tract (Mc Dowell, 1992). Absorption from the intestine is by simple diffusion (Ammerman and Goodrich, 1983). A large proportion of K in the rumen is derived from the saliva, which is continuously secreted and is rich in K (Mc Dowell, 1992).

Potassium balance depends mainly on the excretion by the kidneys, which adjusts K excretion rapidly and precisely to a wide variation of intake (Berne and Stanton, 1998). High Na intake may increase K urinary excretion (Ammerman and Goodrich, 1983). Adrenal hormones including aldosterone increase potassium secretion by the renal tubules (Mc Dowell, 1992) while increasing Na absorption (Ammerman and Goodrich, 1983). Extracellular fluid potassium concentration is regulated precisely at about $4.2 \pm 0.3 \text{ mEq/liter}$ (Berne and Stanton, 1998). According to these authors, precise control is necessary because many cellular functions are dependent on extracellular potassium concentration.

5. Supplementation of high quality forages

Supplementation of forages has been reviewed by several authors (Horn and McCollum III, 1987; McCollum III and Horn, 1991; Moore et al., 1999; Paterson et al., 1994) and several aspects included in these reviews will not be discussed here.

High quality forages are usually referred to some cool season grasses (CSG), legumes and/or the mixture of them. These high quality forages include grasses that have a photosynthetic cycle C_3 and legumes which are also C_3 plants (Nelson and Moser, 1994). Although legumes are C_3 they can be separated into cool and warm season types based on their adaptation to temperature (Nelson and Moser, 1994).

Usually CSG are of higher digestibility than warm season grasses (WSG) not only because of the chemical composition but also because of the proportion and the physical arrangement of forage tissues (Goetsch and Owens, 1987). Also warm season C_4 species have higher concentrations of structural polysaccharides (Buxton and Fales, 1994).

Within the same plant specie the most important factor affecting forage quality is herbage maturity (Buxton, 1996). However, the environment also affects forage quality such as soil fertility, season, geographical location, temperatures, water stress and management (Buxton, 1996; Minson, 1990; Nelson and Moser, 1994).

Usually C_3 species in most of the cases are richer in protein with respect to energy creating an inefficient use of N by the ruminant. Several authors have hypothesized relatively utilizing different ratios of energy (total digestible nutrients or digestible energy and protein) or relating energy (concentrates) consumption as a percentage of body weight in order to assess proper supplementation to ruminants.

Moore et al. (1999) reviewed 66 publications on 126 forages to estimate the effect of non-lactating cattle consuming forages. These authors reported that generally supplements decreased intake with improved forages but these types of forages had the greater response when supplemental total digestible nutrients (TDN) was > 60% and when supplemental CP intake was > .05% of body weight (BW). These authors also reported a decrease voluntary forage intake when supplemental TDN intake was > .7% BW, when forage TDN:CP was <.7% or when voluntary forage intake was > 1.75% BW.

Horn and McCollum (1987) reviewed the effect of energy supplementation of forages in ruminants and concluded in general that substitution effects (units change in forage intake per unit increase in concentrate intake) were more pronounced with increasing forage digestibility. However, these authors were more inclined to the concept that than rather a single curve for substitution, a family of curves existdepending on the nutrient requirement of the animal. They included other possible factors affecting substitution such as activity, physiological state, forage quality and availability. Horn and McCollum (1987) concluded that concentrates could be fed up to .5% of BW without causing large decreases in forage intake. Bowman and Sanson (1996) in a review of literature concluded that grain supplements up to .25% BW had minimal effect on forage utilization but over that negative effects become larger.

Several factors have been identified affecting substitution between forage intake when concentrates are fed such as reduction of cellulolysis, ruminal pH, microbial interactions, rumen microflora composition, rate of passage, lipid supplementation and potential metabolic effects (Horn and McCollum III, 1987; Mould, 1988; Palmquist, 1988).

However, it's not only the relation of concentrate to protein but also the chemical composition of these elements and where and how they will be degraded in the rumen. The Beef NRC (1996) shows that degradable intake protein (DIP) for most of the legumes and CSG is around 60 to 90 % of the crude protein (CP). In order to avoid this a ratio protein truly digested in the duodenum to energy (digestible energy MJ) was calculated by Egan (1977) with sheep and proposed if this ratio was greater than 7.5 supplementation would be better with readily available carbohydrates. Also TDN values may be misleading when calculating a ratio of these type. While soybean meal, barley and corn have TDN values of 84-87, 84 and 90%, respectively, total carbohydrates and nonsoluble carbohydrates of barley and corn approximately duplicate and triplicate the values of soybean meal (Sniffen et al., 1992).

These differences in what are protein and energy supplements may be chemically composed and the possible interactions between them and the animal affects forage utilization should be taken into consideration when designing supplementation (Bowman and Sanson, 1996). A better understanding not only of the chemical interactions in ruminants of different diet components but also of how they relate to the different physiological states of the animal is needed.

6. Feeding Frequency

Feeding frequency has been studied mainly as a form of synchronizing N and energy (protein and carbohydrates) for optimizing rumen microbial yield. As previously stated, before most of the CSG and legumes have a high DIP which imbalance the rumen having more availability of N than other nutrients at a given time. In one study with

grazed forages containing over 17% of CP more than 40 % of N consumed disappeared from the rumen reaching a suboptimal relation of N-organic matter (OM) to the duodenum (Owens and Zinn, 1993). Energy supplementation increases the capture of released N and increase microbial N flow from the rumen (Owens and Zinn, 1993).

The feed potential of roughages depends on the size and metabolism of two fractions, the soluble fraction and the insoluble but fermentable fraction, at the rate the latter is fermented and how quickly the unfermentable residues can be passed from the rumen (Ørskov, 1998).

In high quality forages the N is usually rapidly released in the rumen where microbes usually do not have enough energy to capture that N that is afterwards excreted by the animal reducing its nutrient utilization efficiency. Varying the source and degradability of nonstructural carbohydrates and UIP we can vary the amount of amino acids reaching the duodenum. Greater dietary concentrations of NSC have increased the utilization of ruminal ammonia (Hoover and Stokes, 1991). The result should be more microbial protein reaching the small intestine and more nearly meeting the requirements of high producing cattle.

Two types of what in the literature appears as feeding frequency will be discussed; the meal served with different frequency in a day (FF) and animals having a basal diet but the supplement fed in different frequencies (SFF).

In a review by Owen (1978) the increase of FF of totally mixed diets improved dry matter and N digestibility, mainly with poorer quality feedstuffs and decrease the diurnal variation in the rumen variation of ammonia and volatile fatty acids.

Ulyatt et al. (1984) fed chaffed alfalfa to wether sheep once a day or once every hour. An increase in the FF had a major effect on reticulo rumen pool sizes but did not affect apparent digestibilities nor partition of digestion of non nitrogenous constituents. Daily feeding increased N reaching the duodenum; however, N retention was significantly greater with FF, suggesting to the authors the possibility of more efficient tissue utilization by the animal.

Feeding frequency did not affect ruminal or total tract OM or cell wall digestion either of lambs fed fescue hay 2, 4, 6, 8 or 16 times daily (Bunting et al., 1987) or of rams using a FF of alfalfa silage with or without soybean meal of 1 or 4 times daily (Ruiz et al., 1989). Ruiz et al. (1989) found that diurnal variation of all the ruminal parameters were reduced.

Dairy cows fed from 2 to 8 times a day resulted in an increase in the molar percentage of acetate and a decrease in the concentration of lactate in ruminal fluid (Bragg et al., 1986). An increase in acetate should produce an increase in milk fat. In this same direction dairy cows being fed more frequently (2 vs. 6 times a day), milk production was not increased but percentage of milk fat was increased by .4-.5% in two experiments (Kaufmann et al., 1980).

Increasing FF more than one time a day didn't affect intake of dairy cows (Burt and Dunton, 1967; Robinson and McQueen, 1994; Robinson and Sniffen, 1985). However, intake and nitrogen retention was increased when 5 kg medium quality hay was offered more than once a day (2 or 3 times) to zebu bulls (Ikhatua et al., 1987).

Altering the frequency of supplement (SFF) has been studied mostly under range conditions with low quality forages and protein supplements. Early works from McIlvain

and Shoop (1962) with cottonseed meal showed no difference in variation of performance within groups of steers supplemented once, every three days and every week. Also using as supplement cottonseed meal, Hunt et al (1989) studied the effect of SFF of 12, 24 and 48 hr and an unsupplemented control in a metabolism trial and with lighter growing cattle. Supplementation increase dry matter intake and VFA, NDF and ADF disappearance in situ and concentration of volatile fatty acids were greater for supplemented than for unsupplemented control (P<.05), however, there were no statistical differences due to SFF. In the performance trial these same authors only found differences when compare supplemented steers vs control in average daily gain but SFF did not show any differences among the hours fed.

Beaty et al. (1994) in a series of two experiments were they tested a daily supplementation vs a 3 times a week supplementation using pregnant beef cows grazing dormant tallgrass prairie. They found that reducing the SFF to 3 times instead of daily increased (P<.02) winter weight loss through calving. In a metabolism trial these same authors observed a slight improvement by daily supplementation, however, as a final consideration they thought that SFF of three times a week was a viable practice to reduce cost labor and with minimal consequences in terms of cow overall performance.

Farmer et al. (2001) fed a high protein supplement (43% CP) 2, 3, 5 and 7 days a week. Increasing frequency of supplementation increased linearly forage OM intake, OM and NDF digestion and they concluded that forage utilization was improved by more frequent supplementation but there was not expected a large impact in animal performance due to SFF.

Similar conclusions with protein supplements were obtained with wethers (Bohnert et al., 2001a; Bohnert et al., 2001b) and with cows during the last third gestation (Bohnert et al., 2001b) in which the authors concluded that supplements of 20 to 60 % UIP can be used by ruminants consuming low quality forages without adversely affecting N efficiency and animal performance by supplementing it once every 6 days. Similar results obtained Wallace et al (1988) with yearling heifers grazing dormant rangeland forage supplemented with a cottonseed cake 1 or 3 times a week finding not difference in the growth rate nor breeding performance due to SFF.

Krehbiel et al. (1998) determined the effects of feeding frequency of a protein supplement (soybean meal) on bromegrass intake and net portal and hepatic flux of nutrients in Dorset ewes. They found that SFF of soybean meal supplementation may affect the pattern of nutrient absorption without affecting their net absorption.

Chase and Hibberd (1989) fed chopped low quality hay free choice and fed two levels of corn (1.4 or 2.0 kg day⁻¹) on a daily or in an every other day basis. Supplementation frequency did not alter hay OM intake but tended to decrease total and hay OM digestibility. Digestibility and DM intake were lower for the animals in the high corn supplementation. These authors concluded that maize supplements should be fed on a daily basis in small quantities. These results are in agreement with the results reported by Wallace et al (1988) when they fed heifers with a grain cube daily or twice a week that resulted in weight lost and pregnancy rate decreased.

Hart (1987) studied the effect of two forms of grain (whole vs ground) frequency of feeding (daily or alternate) at 3 different levels (13, 26 and 39% of diet DM) on the intake and digestibility of sorghum silage. Feeding grain on alternate days decreased

NDF digestibility for the 13 and 39 % grain diet. The digestibility of NDF was depressed more by feeding ground corn on alternate day. Feeding corn on alternate days decreased dry matter intake for animals fed the 26 and 39% diets.

Altering the frequency of feeding, up to once a week, of a high protein supplement mainly in beef cows fed a low quality forage does not appear to affect overall performance. Feeding grain infrequently in low quality forages may affect digestibility and therefore overall performance.

Literature Cited

- Aarts, H. F. M., E. E. Biewinga, and H. van Keulen. 1992. Dairy farming systems based on efficient nutrient management. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science 40:285-299.
- Aarts, H. F. M., B. Habekotte, and H. van Keulen. 2000a. Nitrogen (N) management in the 'De Marke' dairy farming system. Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems 56:231-240.
- Aarts, H. F. M., B. Habekotte, and H. van Keulen. 2000b. Phosphorus (P) management in the 'De Marke' dairy farming system. Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems 56:219-229.
- Ammerman, C. B. and R. D. Goodrich. 1983. Advances in mineral nutrition in ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 57:519-533.
- Argyle, J. L. and R. L. Baldwin. 1989. Effects of amino acids and peptides on rumen microbial growth yields. J. Dairy Sci. 72:2017-2027.
- Barrow, N. J. 1987. Return of nutrient by animals. In: R. W. Snaydon (Ed.) Managed grasslands: analytical studies. pp. 181-186. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Bauman, D. E. 1984. Regulation of nutrient partitioning. In: F. M. C. Gilchrist and R. I.
 Mackie (Eds.) Herbivore Nutrition in the Subtropics and Tropics. pp. 505-524.
 The Science Press, London.
- Bauman, D. E. 2000. Regulation of nutrient partitioning during lactation: homeostasis and homeorhesis revisited. In: P. B. Cronje (Ed.) Ruminant Physiology: digestion, metabolism, growth and reproduction. pp. 311-328. CAB.
- Bauman, D. E. and W. B. Currie. 1980. Partitioning of nutrients during pregnancy and lactation: a review of mechanisms involving homeostasis and homeorhesis. J. Dairy Sci. 63:1514-1529.
- Bauman, D. E., J. H. Eisemann, and W. B. Currie. 1982. Hormonal effects on partitioning of nutrients for tissue growth: role of growth hormone and prolactin. Federation Procedures 14:2538-2544.
- Bauman, D. E. and R. G. Vernon. 1993. Effects of exogenous bovine somatotropin on lactation. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 13:437-461.
- Beaty, J. L., R. C. Cochran, B. A. Lintzenich, E. S. Vanzant, J. L. Morril, R. T. Brandt, and D. E. Johnson. 1994b. Effect of frequency of supplementation and protein concentration in supplements on perfomance and digestion characteristics of beef cattle consuming low quality forages. J. Anim. Sci. 72:2475-2486.

- Beegle, D. B., O. T. Carton, and J. S. Bailey. 2000. Nutrient management planning: justification, theory, practice. J. Environ. Qual. 29:72-79.
- Ben- Ghedalia, D., H. Tagari, A. Bondi, and A. Tadmor. 1974. Protein digestion in the small intestine of sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 31:125-131.
- Bergman, E. N. 1986. Splanchnic and peripheral uptake of amino acids in relation to the gut. Federation Procedures 45:2277-2282.
- Bergman, E. N. and J. M. Pell. 1984. Integration of amino acid metabolism in the ruminant. In: F. M. C. Gilchrist and R. I. Mackie (Eds.) Herbivore Nutrition in the Subtropics and Tropics. pp. 613-628. The Science Press, London.
- Berne, R. M. and B. A. Stanton. 1998. Physiology. Mosby, St Louis.
- Bickerstaffe, R. 1993. Regulation of nutrient partitioning in growth and lactation. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 44:523-539.
- Bierman, S., G. E. Erickson, T. J. Klopfenstein, R. A. Stock, and D. H. Shain. 1999. Evaluation of nitrogen and organic matter balance in the feedlot as affected by level and source of dietary fiber. J. Anim. Sci. 77:1645-1653.
- Bohnert, D. W., C. S. Schauer, M. L. Bauer, and T. DelCurto. 2001a. Influence of rumen protein degradability and supplementation frequency on steers consuming lowquality forage: ruminal fermentation and site of digestion. Proc. West. Sect. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci. 52:311-316.
- Bohnert, D. W., C. S. Schauer, and T. DelCurto. 2001b. Influence of rumen protein degradability and supplementation frequency on performance and nitrogen use in ruminants consuming low-quality forage: cow performance and efficiency of nitrogen use in wethers. Proc. West. Sect. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci. 52:305-310.
- Bouldin, D. R. and S. Klausner. 1998. Managing nutrients in manure: general principles and application s to dairy manure in New York. In: J. L. Hatfield and B. A. Stewart (Eds.) Animal waste utilization: effective use of manure as a soil resource. pp. 65-88. Ann Arbor Press, Chelsea, MI.
- Bowman, J. G. and D. W. Sanson. 1996. Starch or fiber based energy supplements for grazing ruminants. Grazing Livestock Nutrition Conference 3:118-135.
- Bragg, D. S., M. R. Murphy, and C. L. Davis. 1986. Effect of source of carbohydrate and frequency of feeding on rumen parameters in dairy steers. J. Dairy Sci. 69:392-402.
- Braithwaite, G. D. 1984. Some observations on phosphorus homeostasis and requirements of sheep. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 102:295-306.

- Breembroek, J. A., B. Koole, K. J. Poppe, and G. A. A. Wossink. 1996. Environmental Farm Accounting: The Case of the Dutch Nutrients Accounting System. Agricultural Systems 51:29-40.
- Breier, B. H. 1999. Regulation of protein and energy metabolism by the somatotropic axis. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 17:209-218.
- Breier, B. H. and H. Sauerwein. 1995. Regulation of growth in ruminants by the somatotropic axis. In: W. v. Engelhardt, S. Leonard-Marek, G. Breeves, and D. Giesecke (Eds.) ruminant physiology: digestion metabolism growth and reproduction. pp. 451-474.
- Breves, G., J. P. Goff, B. Schröder, and R. L. Horst. 1995. Gastrointestinal calcium and phosphate metabolism in ruminants. In: W. v. Engelhardt, S. Leonard-Marek, G. Breeves, and D. Giesecke (Eds.) Ruminant physiology: digestion metabolism growth and reproduction. pp. 135-151.
- Breves, G. and B. Schröder. 1991. Comparative aspects of gastrointestinal phosphorus metabolism. Nutr. Res. Rev. 4:140.
- Brockman, R. P. and E. N. Bergman. 1975. Effect of glucagon on plasma alanine and glutamine metabolism and hepatic gluconeogenesis in sheep. Am. J. Physiol. 228:1627-1633.
- Broderick, G. A., R. J. Wallace, and E. R. Ørskov. 1991. Control rate and extent of protein degradation. In: T. Tsuda, Y. Sasaki, and R. Kawashima (Eds.)
 Physiological aspects of digestion and Metabolism in ruminants, Proceeding of the seventh International symposium on ruminant physiology. pp. 541-592. Academic Press, New York.
- Bunting, L. D., M. D. Howard, R. B. Muntifering, K. A. Dawson, and J. A. Boling. 1987. Effect of feeding frequency on forage fiber and nitrogen utilization in sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 64:1170-1177.
- Burroughs, W. A., A. Lantone, P. DePaul, P. Gerlaugh, and R. M. Bethque. 1951. Mineral influences upon urea utilization and cellulose digestion by rumen microorganisms using artificial rumen technique. J. Anim. Sci. 10:693-697.
- Burt, A. W. and C. R. Dunton. 1967. Effect of frequency of feeding upon food utilization by ruminants. Proc. Nutr. Soc 26:181-190.
- Burton, J. L., B. W. McBride, E. Block, D. R. Glimm, and J. J. Kenelly. 1994. A review of bovine growth hormone. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 74:167-201.
- Buttery, P. J. 1984. Protein turnover and muscle metabolism in the ruminant. In: F. M. C. Gilchrist and R. I. Mackie (Eds.) Herbivore Nutrition in the Subtropics and Tropics. pp. 597-612. The Science Press, London.

- Buxton, D. R. 1996. Quality-related characteristics of forages as influenced by plant environment and agronomic factors. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 59:37-49.
- Buxton, D. R. and S. L. Fales. 1994. Plant environment and quality. In: G. C. Fahey Jr, M. Collins, D. R. Mertens, and L. E. Moser (Eds.) Forage Quality, Evaluation and Utilization. pp. 155-199. ASA, CSSA, SSA, Madison, WI, USA.
- Care, A. D. 1994. The absorption of phosphate from the digestive tract of ruminant animals. Br. vet. J. 150:197-205.
- Carran, R. A. and P. W. Theobald. 2000. Effects of excreta return on properties of a grazed pasture soil. Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems 56:79-85.
- Challa, J. and G. D. Braithwaite. 1988. Phosphorus and calcium metabolism in growing calves with special emphasis on phosphorus homeostasis. 3. Studies of the effect of continuos intravenous infusion of different levels of phosphorus in ruminating calves receiving adequate dietary phosphorus. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 110:591-595.
- Challa, J., G. D. Braithwaite, and M. S. Dhanoa. 1989. Phosphorus homeostasis in growing calves. J. Agric. Sci. Camb. 112:217-226.
- Chalupa, W. 1976. Degradation of amino acids by the mixed rumen microbial population. J. Anim. Sci. 42:828-835.
- Chandler, P. T. 1996. Environmental challenges as related to animal agriculture dairy. In: E. T. Kornegay (Ed.) Nutrient management of food animals to enhance and protect the environment. pp. 7-20. CRC Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.
- Chase Jr, C. C. and C. A. Hibberd. 1989. Effect of level and frequency of maize supplementation on the utilization of low quality grass hay by beef cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 24:129-139.
- Cheng, K. J. and R. J. Wallace. 1979. The mechanism of passage of endogenous urea through the rumen wall and the role of ureolytic epithelial bacteria in the urea flux. Br. J. Nutr. 42:553-557.
- Cherney, J. H., D. J. R. Cherney, and T. H. Bruulsema. 1998. Potassium management. In: J. H. Cherney and D. J. R. Cherney (Eds.) Grass for dairy cattle. pp. 137-160. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Christiansen, M. L. and K. E. Webb Jr. 1990a. Intestinal acid flow, dry matter, starch and protein digestibility and amino acid absorption in beef cattle fed a high concentrate diet with defluorinated phosphate, limestone or magnesium oxide. J. Anim. Sci. 68:2105-2112.
- Christiansen, M. L. and K. E. Webb Jr. 1990b. Nitrogen utilization and digestibility of amino acids by lambs fed a high concentrate diet with limestone and magnesium oxide. J. Anim. Sci. 68:2095-2104.
- Clark, J. H., T. H. Klusmeyer, and M. R. Cameron. 1992. Microbial protein synthesis and flows of nitrogen fraction to the duodenum of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75:2304-2323.
- Coleman, D. C., R. Andrews, J. E. Ellis, and J. S. Singh. 1977. Energy flow and partitioning in selected man managed and naural ecosystems. Agro-Ecosystems 3:45-54.

Coleman, G. S. 1980. Rumen ciliate protozoa. Adv. Parasitol. 18:121-173.

- Coleman, G. S. 1986. The metabolism of rumen ciliate protozoa. Fems Microbiol. Rev. 39:321-344.
- Cowling, E. B. and J. N. Galloway. 2001. Challenges and Opportunities Facing Animal Agriculture: Optimizing Nitrogen Management in the Atmosphere and Biosphere of the Earth. J. Anim. Sci.
- Cunningham, K. D., M. J. Cecava, T. R. Johnson, and P. A. Ludden. 1996. Influence of source and amount of dietary protein on milk yield by cows in early lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 79:620-630.
- Davis, S. R., T. N. Barry, and C. A. Hughson. 1981. Protein synthesis in tissues of growing lambs. Br. J. Nutr. 46:409-419.
- Dawson, J. M., H. M. R. Greathead, J. Craigon, D. L. Hachey, P. J. Reeds, J. M. Pell, and P. J. Buttery. 1998. The interaction between nutritional status and growth hormone in young cattle: differential responsiveness of fat and protein metabolism. Br. J. Nutr. 79:275-286.
- Deves, R. and C. A. Boyd. 1998. Transporters for Cationic Amino Acids in Animal Cells: Discovery, Structure, and Function. Phys. Rev. 78:487-545.
- Dou, Z., L. E. Lanyon, J. D. Ferguson, R. A. Kohn, R. C. Boston, and W. Chalupa. 1998. An integrated approach to managing nitrogen on dairy farms: evaluating farm performance using the dairy nitrogen planner. Agron J 90:573-581.
- Durand, M. and S. Komizarczuk. 1988. Influence of major minerals on rumen microbiota. J. Nutr. 118:249-260.
- Eghball, B. and J. F. Power. 1994. Beef cattle feedlot manure management. J. Soil and Water Cons. 49:113-122.

- Eisemann, J. H., A. C. Hammond, and T. S. Rumsey. 1989. Tissue protein synthesis and nucleic acid concentrations in steers treated with somatotropin. Br. J. Nutr. 62:657-671.
- Erickson, G. E., T. J. Klopfenstein, C. T. Milton, D. Hanson, and C. Calkins. 1999. Effect of dietary phosphorus on finishing steer performance, bone status, and carcass maturity. J. Anim. Sci. 77:2832-2836.
- Etherton, T. D. and D. E. Bauman. 1998. Biology of somatotropin in growth and lactation of domestic animals. Phys. Rev. 78:745-761.
- Farmer, C., R. C. Cochran, D. D. Simms, E. A. Klevesahl, T. A. Wickersham, and D. E. Johnson. 2001. The effects of several supplementation frequencies on forage use and the performance of beef cattle consuming dormant tallgrass prairie forage. J. Anim. Sci. 79:2276-2284.
- Febel, H. and S. Fekete. 1996. Factors influencing microbial growth and the efficiency of microbial protein synthesis: a review. Acta Veterinaria Hungarica 44:39-56.
- Ffoulkes, D. and R. A. Leng. 1989. Dynamics of protozoa in the rumen of cattle. Br. J. Nutr. 59:426-436.
- Fox, D. G., T. P. Tylutki, K. J. Czymmek, C. N. Rasmussen, and V. M. Durbal. 2000. Development and application of the cornell university nutrient management planning systems. Proceedings Cornell Nutrition Conference167-179.
- Freeman, M. E., B. Kanyicska, A. Lerant, and G. Nagy. 2000. Prolactin: Structure, Function, and Regulation of Secretion. Phys. Rev. 80:1523-1631.
- Galloway, J. N. 1998. The global nitrogen cycle: changes and consequences. Environmental Pollution 102:15-24.
- Galyean, M. L. 1996. Protein levels in beef cattle finishing diets: industry application, university research, and system results. J. Anim. Sci. 74:2860-2870.
- Galyean, M. L. 1999. Review: restricted and programmed feeding of beef cattle. definitions, application and research results. Prof. Anim. Sci. 15:1-6.
- Galyean, M. L. 2000. Environmental stewardship in the future: Nutrient management issues and options for beef cattle feeding operations. Proc. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci. Available at: http://www.asas.org/jas/symposia/proceedings/0643.pdf. Accessed {11/27/01}.
- Gate, J. J., D. S. Parker, and G. E. Lobley. 1997. The incorporation of [5-15N] glutamine into the protein and nucleic acids in intestinal and other tissues of lambs. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 56:171A-179A.

- George, C. 1999. Testing for sustainable development through environmental assessment. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 19:175-200.
- Gibon, A., A. R. Sibbald, and C. Thomas. 1999. Improved sustainability in livestock systems, a challenge for animal production science. Livestock Production Science 61:107-110.
- Goetsch, A. L. and F. N. Owens. 1987. Impact of forage characteristics on microbial fermentation and ruminant performance. Grazing Livestock Nutrition Conference 1:55-66.
- Goff, J. P. 2000. Pathophysiology of calcium and phosphorus disorders. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal practice 16:319-337.
- Goh, K. M. and P. H. Williams. 1999. Comparative nutrients budgets of temperate grazed pastoral thesis. In: E. M. A. Smaling, O. Oenema, and L. O. Fresco (Eds.)
 Nutrient disequilibria in agroecosystems concepts and case studies. pp. 265-294.
 CABI Publishing, London.
- Hammond, C., B. Segars, and C. Gould. 1994. Land application of livestock and poultry manure. The University of Georgia. Cooperative Extension Service. Circular 826. 8 p.
- Hansen, J. W. 1996. Is Agricultural Sustainability a Useful Concept? Agricultural Systems 50:117-143.
- Harmon, D. L. 1993. Nutritional regulation of postruminal digestive enzymes in ruminants. J. Dairy Sci. 76:2102-2111.
- Harmon, D. L. and T. B. Avery. 1987. Effects of dietary monensin and sodium propionate on net nutrient flux in steers fed a high-concentrate diet. J. Anim. Sci. 65:1610-1616.
- Harris, P. M. and G. E. Lobley. 1991. Amino acid and energy metabolism in the peripheral tissues of ruminants. In: T. Tsuda, Y. Sasaki, and R. Kawashima (Eds.) Physiological aspects of digestion and Metabolism in ruminants, Proceeding of the seventh International symposium on ruminant physiology. pp. 201-230. Academic Press, New York.
- Hart, I. C. 1983. Endocrine control of nutrient partition in lactating ruminants. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 42:181-194.
- Hart, J. M., E. S. Marx, N. W. Christensen, and J. A. Moore. 1997. Nutrient management strategies. J. Dairy Sci. 80:2659-2666.
- Hart, S. P. 1987. The influence of frequency of feeding and grain form on digestibility of forage grain mixtures. J. Anim. Sci. 65:474.

- Hay, W. W., C. C. Lin, and H. K. Meznarich. 1988. Effect of high levels of insulin on glucose utilization and glucose production in pregnant and nonpregnant sheep. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 189:275-286.
- Hays, V. W. and M. J. Swenson. 1993. Minerals and bones. In: M. J. Swenson and W. O. Reece (Eds.) Dukes' physiology of domestic animals. pp. 517-535.
- Hazlewood, G. P., C. G. Orpin, Y. Greenwood, and M. E. Black. 1983. Isolation of Proteolytic rumen bacteria by use of selective medium containing leaf fraction 1 protein (ribulose biphosphate carboxylase). Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 50:1780-1784.
- Hemingway, R. G. 1999. The effect of changing patterns of fertilizer applications on the major mineral composition of herbage in relation to the requirements of cattle: a 50 year review. Animal Science 69:1-18.
- Higgs, B., A. E. Johnston, J. L. Salter, and C. J. Dawson. 2000. Some aspects of achieving sustainable phosphorus use in agriculture. J. Environ. Qual. 29:80-87.
- Hoover, W. H. and S. R. Stokes. 1991. Balancing carbohydrates and proteins for optimum rumen microbial yield. J. Dairy Sci. 74:3630-3644.
- Horn, G. W. and F. T. McCollum III. 1987. Energy supplementation of grazing ruminants. Judkins, M. Proc.Grazing Livestock Nutrition Conf. 1, 125-136. Jackson, WY.
- Horst, R. L. and J. P. Goff. 1997. Milk fever and dietary potassium. Proceedings Cornell Nutrition Conference181-189.
- Hume, I. D., D. R. Jacobson, and G. E. Mitchell Jr. 1972. Quantitative studies on amino acid absorption in sheep. J. Nutr. 102:495-499.
- Hungate, R. E. 1966. The rumen and its microbes. Academic Press, London.
- Hunt, C. W., J. F. Parkinson, R. A. Roeder, and D. G. Falk. 1989. The delivery of cottonseed meal at three different time intervals to steers fed low-quality grass hay: effects on digestion and performance. J Anim Sci 67:1360-1366.
- Huntington, G. B. 1990. Energy metabolism in the digestive tract and liver of cattle: influence of physiological state and nutrition. Reprod. Nutr. Dev. 30:35-47.
- Huntington, G. B. and S. L. Archibeque. 1999. Practical aspects of urea and ammonia metabolism in ruminants. Proc. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci.
- Hwa, V., Y. Oh, and R. G. Rosenfeld. 1999. The Insulin-Like Growth Factor-Binding Protein (IGFBP) Superfamily. Endocr. Rev. 20:761-787.

- Ikhatua, U. J., O. W. Ehoche, and J. E. Umoh. 1987. The influence of feeding frequency on feed intake, nutrient utilization and nitrogen metabolism in growing zebu cattle. J. Agric. Sci. Camb. 108:639-642.
- IUCN/UNEP/WWF. 1991. Caring for the Earth: A strategy for sustainable living. Gland, Switzerland.
- Jarvis, S. C., D. J. Hatch, and D. H. Roberts. 1989. The effects of grassland management on nitrogen losses from grazed swards through ammonia volatilization; the relationship to excretal N returns from cattle. J. Agric. Sci. Camb. 112:205-216.
- Jarvis, S. C. and J. H. Macduff. 1989. Nitrate nutrition of grasses from steady state supplies in flowing solution culture following nitrate deprivation and/or defoliation I. Recovery of uptake and growth and their interactions. J. Exp. Bot. 40:965-975.
- Jarvis, S. C., D. Scholefield, and B. Pain. 1995. Nitrogen cycling in grazing systems. In: P. E. Bacon (Ed.) Nitrogen Fertilization in the environment. pp. 381-419. Marcel Drakker, Inc, New York.
- Jouany, J. P. 1996. Effect of rumen protozoa on nitrogen utilization by ruminants. J. Nutr. 126:1335s-1346s.
- Jouany, J. P., D. I. Demeyer, and J. Grain. 1988. Effects of defaunating the rumen. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.
- Jouany, J. P. and C. Martin. 1997. Effect of protozoa in plant cell wall and starch digestion in the rumen. In: R. Onodera, H. Itabashi, K. Ushida, H. Yano, and Y. Sasaki (Eds.) Rumen microbes and digestive physiology in ruminants. pp. 11-24. Japan Scientific Society Press, Tokyo.
- Kaufmann, W., H. Hagemeister, and G. Dirksen. 1980. Adaptation to changes in dietary composition, level and frequency of feeding. In: Y. Ruckebusch and P. Thivend (Eds.) Digestive physiology and metabolism in ruminants. pp. 587-602. Avi Publishing Company Inc., Westport, CT.
- Kemp, A., O. J. Hemkes, and T. Van Steenbergen. 1979. The crude protein production of grassland and the utilization by milking cows. Neth. J. Agric. Sci. 27:36-45.
- Kennedy, P. M. and L. P. Milligan. 1980. The degradation and utilization of endogenous urea in gastrointestinal tract of ruminants: a review. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 60:205-221.
- Khorasani, G. R., R. A. Janzen, W. B. McGill, and J. J. Kennelly. 1997. Site and Extent of Mineral Absorption in Lactating Cows Fed Whole-Crop Cereal Grain Silage or Alfalfa Silage. J. Anim. Sci. 75:239-248.

- Kincaid, R. 1993. Macro elements for ruminants. In: D. C. Church (Ed.) The ruminant animal digestive physiology and nutrition. pp. 326-341. Waveland Press, Inc., Prospects Heights II.
- Klausner, S. 1995a. Nutrient management planning. In: K. Steele (Ed.) Animal Waste and the Land-water interfase. pp. 383-391. CRC Lewis Publishers, Boca raton.
- Klausner, S. 1995b. Nutrient Management: crop production and water quality. NRAES 101:1-40.
- Knight, C. H. 2000. Overview of prolactin's role in farm animal lactation. Livestock Production Science 70:87-93.
- Koelsch, R. and G. Lesoing. 1999. Nutrient Balance on Nebraska Livestock confinement systems. J. Anim. Sci. 77 (Suppl 2):63-71.
- Kohn, R. A., Z. Dou, J. D. Ferguson, and R. C. Boston. 1997. A Sensitivity Analysis of Nitrogen Losses from Dairy Farms. J. Environ. Manag. 50:417-428.
- Komaragiri, M. V. and R. A. Erdman. 1997. Factors affecting body tissue mobilization in early lactation dairy cows. 1. Effect of dietary protein on mobilization of body fat and protein. J. Dairy Sci. 80:929-937.
- Kopecny, J. and R. J. Wallace. 1982. Cellular location and some properties of proteolytic enzymes of rumen bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 43:1026-1033.
- Krehbiel, C. R., C. L. Ferrell, and H. C. Freetly. 1998. Effects of frequency of supplementation on dry matter intake and net portal and hepatic flux of nutrients in mature ewes that consume low- quality forage. J Anim Sci 76:2464-2473.
- Lanyon, L. L. 1994. Dairy manure and plant nutrient management issues affecting water quality and the dairy industry. J. Dairy Sci. 77:1999-2007.
- Leng, R. A. and J. V. Nolan. 1984. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 67:1072-1089.
- Lilly, J. P. 1991. Best Management practices for agricultural nutrients. North Carolina Cooperative Extension Service. Publication number AG-439-20. 6p.
- Lin, B. L., A. Sakoda, R. Shibasaki, N. Goto, and M. Suzuki. 2000. Modelling a global biogeochemical nitrogen cycle in terrestrial ecosystems. Ecological Modelling 135:89-110.
- Lobley, G. E. 1992. Control of the metabolic fate of amino acids in ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 70:3264-3275.

- Lobley, G. E. 1994. Amino acid and protein metabolism in the whole body and individual tissues of ruminants. In: J. M. Asplund (Ed.) Principles of protein nutrition of ruminants. pp. 147-178. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Lobley, G. E. 1998. Nutritional and hormonal control of muscle and peripheral tissue metabolism in farm species. Livestock Production Science 56:91-114.
- Lobley, G. E., S. O. Hoskin, and J. McNeil. 2001. Glutamine in animal science and production. J. Nutr. 131:S2525-S2531.
- Lobley, G. E., G. D. Milano, and J. G. Van Der Walt. 2000. The liver: Integrator of nitrogen metabolism. In: P. B. Cronje (Ed.) Ruminant physiology: digestion, metabolism, growth and reproduction. pp. 149-168. CAB.
- Lobley, G. E., V. Milne, J. M. Lovie, P. J. Reeds, and K. Pennie. 1980. Whole body and tissue protein synthesis in cattle. Br. J. Nutr. 43:491-502.
- Mac Rae, J. C. and M. J. Ulyatt. 1974. Quantitative digestion of fresh herbage by sheep. XI. The site of digestion of some nitrogenous constituents. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 82:309-315.
- Maltby, S. A., L. A. Crompton, D. E. Lomax, D. E. Beever, and C. J. Pippard. 1991. The effect of increased ammonia supply on post-prandial hepatic metabolism in growing steers fed either forage or cereal –based diets. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 52:295A-301A.

Marschner, H. 1995. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic Press, San Diego.

- Matthews, J. C. 2000. Amino acid and peptide transport systems. In: J. P. F. D'Mello (Ed.) Farm animals metabolism and nutrition. pp. 3-23. CAB, London.
- Matthews, J. C. and K. E. Webb. 1995. Absorption of L-carnosine, L- methionine, and Lmethionylglycine by isolated sheep ruminal and omasal epithelial tissue. J. Anim. Sci. 73:3464-3475.
- Maynard, L. A., J. K. Loosli, H. F. Hintz, and R. G. Wagner. 1979. The inorganic elements and their metabolism. In: J. R. Campbell (Ed.) Animal Nutrition. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York.
- Mc Dowell, L. R. 1992. Minerals in animal and human nutrition. Academic Press, San Diego.
- McAllan, A. B. and R. H. Smith. 1973. Degradation of nucleic acids in the rumen. Br. J. Nutr. 29:331-345.
- McCollum III, F. T. and G. W. Horn. 1991. Protein supplementation of grazing livestock: a review. Prof. Anim. Sci.1-16.

- McDowell, G. H. and E. F. Annison. 1991. Hormonal control of energy and protein metabolism. In: T. Tsuda, Y. Sasaki, and R. Kawashima (Eds.) Physiological aspects of digestion and Metabolism in ruminants, Proceeding of the seventh International symposium on ruminant physiology. pp. 231-253. Academic Press, New York.
- McDowell, L. R. 1992. Potassium. In: Minerals in animal and human nutrition. pp. 98-114. Academic Press, San Diego.
- McIlvain, E. H. and M. C. Shoop. 1962. Daily versus every third day versus weekly feeding of cottonseed cake to beef steers on winter range. J. Range Manage. 15:143-146.
- McMurtry, J. P., G. L. Francis, and Z. Upton. 1997. Insulin-like growth factors in poultry. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 14:199-229.
- Mebratu, D. 1998. Sustainability and sustainable development; Historical and conceptual review. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 18:493-520.
- Meijer, A. J., E. F. C. Blommaart, P. F. Dubbelhuis, and D. A. van Sluijters. Regulation of hepatic nitrogen metabolism. Lobley, G. E., White, A, and MacRae, J. C. 1999. EAAP Publication No. 96, 155-176. Wageningen, Wageningen Pers. Protein metabolism and nutrition. Proceedings of the VIIIth International symposium on protein metabolism and nutrition.
- Meijer, A. J., W. H. Lamers, and A. F. Chamuleau. 1990. Nitrogen metabolism and ornithine cycle function. Phys. Rev. 70:701-748.
- Miller, E. R. 1995. Potassium bioavailability. In: C. B. Ammerman, D. H. Baker, and A. J. Lewis (Eds.) Bioavailability of nutrients for animals, amino acids, minerals and vitamins. pp. 295-302. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego.
- Minson, D. J. 1990. Forage in ruminant nutrition. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA.
- Moe, P. J., P. A. Porcius, and C. E. Polan. 1987. Transport of L-amino acids by brushborder membrane vesicles from bovine small intestine. J. Dairy Sci. 70:290-297.
- Moore Jr, P. A., T. C. Daniel, A. N. Sharpley, and C. W. Woods. 1995. Poultry manure management: Environmentally sound options. J. Soil and Water Cons. 50:321-327.
- Moore Jr, P. A. 1998. Best management practices for poultry manure utilization that enhance agricultural productivity and reduce pollution. In: J. L. Hatfield and B. A. Stewart (Eds.) Animal waste utilization: effective use of manure as a soil resource. pp. 89-124. Ann Arbor Press, Chelsea, MI.

- Moore, J. E., M. H. Brant, W. E. Kunkle, and D. I. Hopkins. 1999. Effects of Supplementation on Voluntary Forage Intake, Diet Digestibility, and Animal Performance. J. Anim. Sci. 77 (Suppl 2):122-135.
- Morrison, M. and R. I. Mackie. 1996. Nitrogen metabolism by ruminal microorganisms: current understanding and future perspectives. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 47:227-246.
- Mould, F. L. 1988. Associative effects of feeds. In: E. R. Ørskov (Ed.) Feed Science. pp. 279-292. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Müller, E. E., V. Locatelli, and D. Cocchi. 1999. Neuroendocrine Control of Growth Hormone Secretion. Phys. Rev. 79:511-607.
- Nelson, C. J. and L. E. Moser. 1994. Plant factors affecting forage quality. In: G. C. Fahey Jr, M. Collins, D. R. Mertens, and L. E. Moser (Eds.) Forage Quality, Evaluation and Utilization. pp. 115-154. ASA, CSSA, SSA, Madison, WI, USA.
- Nieto, R. and G. R. Lobley. 1999. Integration of protein metabolism within the whole body and between organs. Lobley, G. E., White, A, and MacRae, J. C. EAAP publication No. 96, 69-100. Wageningen, Wageningen Press. Protein metabolism and nutrition. Proceedings of the VIIIth International symposium on protein metabolism and nutrition.
- Noguchi, T. 2000. Protein nutrition and insulin-like growth factor system. Br. J. Nutr. 84:241-244.
- NRC. 1996. Nutrients requirements of beef cattle (7th Ed.). National Academy Press, Washington D.C.
- NRC. 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Onodera, R., Y. Nakagawa, and M. Kandatsu. 1977. Ureolytic activity of the washed suspension of rumen ciliate protozoa. Agric. Biol. Chem. 41:2177-2182.
- Owen, J. B. 1978. Complete-diet feeding of dairy cows. In: W. Haresign and D. Lewis (Eds.) Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition. pp. 312-324. Butterworths, London.
- Owens, F. N., P. Dubeski, and C. F. Hanson. 1993. Factors that alter the growth and development of ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 71:3138-3150.
- Owens, F. N. and R. A. Zinn. 1993. Protein metabolism of ruminant animals. In: D. C. Church (Ed.) The ruminant animal. Digestive physiology and nutrition. pp. 227-249. Prentice-Hall Inc, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Ørskov, E. R. 1998. Feed evaluation with emphasis on fibrous roughages and fluctuating supply of nutrients: A Review. Small Ruminant Research 28:1-8.

- Ørskov, E. R. and E. L. Miller. 1988. Protein evaluation in ruminants. In: E. R. Ørskov (Ed.) Feed Science. pp. 103-128. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Palacin, M., R. Estevez, J. Bertran, and A. Zorzano. 1998. Molecular biology of mammalian plasma membrane amino acid transporters. Phys. Rev. 78:969-1054.
- Palmquist, D. L. 1988. The feeding value of fats. In: E. R. Ørskov (Ed.) Feed Science. pp. 293-311. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Parker, D. S., M. A. Lomax, C. J. Seal, and J. C. Wilton. 1995. Metabolic implications of ammonia production in the ruminant. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 54:549-563.
- Paterson, J. A., R. L. Belyea, J. P. Bowman, M. S. Kerley, and J. E. Williams. 1994. The impact of forage quality and supplementation regimen on ruminant animal intake and performance. In: G. C. Fahey Jr, M. Collins, D. R. Mertens, and L. E. Moser (Eds.) Forage Quality, Evaluation and Utilization. pp. 59-114. ASA, CSSA, SSA, Madison, WI, USA.
- Paul, J. W. 1999. Nutrient Recycling What Happens to the Excreted Nutrients? 11[Proceedings of the 1999 Western Canadian Dairy Seminar].
- Pell, A. N. 1992. Does ration balancing affect nutrient management. Proceedings Cornell Nutrition Conference23-31.
- Pell, J. M. and P. C. Bates. 1990. The nutitional regulation of growth hormone action. Nutr. Res. Rev. 3:163-192.
- Pell, J. M., E. M. Caldarone, and E. N. Bergman. 1986. Leucine and -ketoisocaproate metabolism and interconversions in fed and fasted sheep. Metabolism 35:1005-1016.
- Peyraud, J. L. and L. Astigarraga. 1998. Review of the effect of nitrogen fertilization on the chemical composition, intake, digestion and nutritive value of fresh herbage: consequences on animal nutrition and N balance. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 72:235-259.
- Phillips, W. A., K. E. Webb Jr, and J. P. Fontenot. 1979. Characteristics of threonine, valine and methionine absorption in the jejunum and ileum of sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 48:926-934.
- Powers, W. J. and H. H. Van Horn. 2001. Nutritional Implications for Manure Nutrient Management Planning. Applied Engineering in Agriculture 17:27-39.
- Reece, W. O. 1993. The kidney. In: M. J. Swenson and W. O. Reece (Eds.) Dukes' physiology of domestic animals 11th edition. pp. 573-603. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY.

- Reynolds, C. K. 1992. Metabolism of nitrogenous compounds by ruminant liver. J. Nutr. 122:850-854.
- Reynolds, C. K. 1995. Quantitative aspects of liver metabolism in ruminants. Engelhardt, W. v., Leonard-Marek, S., Breeves, G., and Giesecke, D. 1995. Ruminant physiology: digestion metabolism, growth and reproduction. [17], 351-371.
 Proceedings of the Eight International Symposium on Ruminant Physiology.
- Reynolds, C. K., D. L. Harmon, and M. J. Cecava. 1994. Absorption and delivery of nutrients for milk protein synthesis by portal drained viscera. J. Dairy Sci. 77:2787-2808.
- Reynolds, C. K. and G. B. Huntington. 1988. Partition of portal drained visceral net flux in beef steers 1. Blood flow and net flux of oxigen, glucose and nitrogenous compounds across stomach and post stomach tissues. Br. J. Nutr. 60:539.
- Reynolds, C. K., H. F. Tyrell, and P. J. Reynolds. 1990. Effects of diet forage to concentrate ratio and intake on energy metabolism in growing beef heifers: whole body energy and nitrogen balance and visceral heat production. J. Nutr.994-1003.
- Reynolds, C. K., H. F. Tyrell, and P. J. Reynolds. 1991. Effects of diet forage to concentrate ratio and intake on energy metabolism in growing beef heifers: Net nutrient metabolism by visceral tissues. J. Nutr.1004-1015.
- Robinson, P. H. and R. E. McQueen. 1994. Influence of supplemental protein source and feeding frequency on rumen fermentation and performance in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77:1340-1353.
- Robinson, P. H. and C. J. Sniffen. 1985. Forestomach and whole tract digestibility for lactating dairy cows as influenced by feeding frequency. J. Dairy Sci. 68:857-867.
- Ruiz, A., D. N. Mowat, and W. L. Grovum. 1989. Effects of feeding frequency and soybean meal supplementation of alfalfa silage on duodenal nitrogen supply to sheep. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 69:1021-1030.
- Russell, J. B., W. G. Bottje, and M. A. Cotta. 1981. Degradation of protein by mixed cultures of rumen bacteria: identification of *Streptococcus bovis* as an actively proteolytic rumen bacterium. J. Anim. Sci. 53:242-252.
- Ryden, J. C., D. C. Whitehead, D. R. Lockyer, R. B. Thompson, J. H. Skinner, and E. A. Garwood. 1987. Ammonia emission from grassland and livestock production systems in the U.K. Environmental Pollution 48:173-184.
- Satter, L. D., T. J. Klopfenstein, and G. E. Erickson. 2001. The Role of Nutrition in Reducing Nutrient Output from Ruminants. J. Anim. Sci.
- Sauvant, D. and J. van Milgen. 1995. Dynamics aspects of carbohydrate and protein breakdown and the associated microbial matter synthesis. In: W. v. Engelhardt, S.

Leonard-Marek, G. Breeves, and D. Giesecke (Eds.) Ruminant Physiology: digestion metabolism growth and reproduction. pp. 71-91.

- Scott, D. 1986. Control of phosphorus balance in ruminants. In: A. Dobson and M. J. Dobson (Eds.) Aspects of digestive physiology in ruminants. Proceedings of a satellite symposium of the 30th international congress of the international union of physiological sciences. pp. 156-174. Comstock Publishing Associates, Ithaca.
- Seal, C. J. and D. S. Parker. 2000. Inter-organ amino acid flux. In: J. P. F. D'Mello (Ed.) Farm animal metabolism and nutrition. pp. 49-63. CAB.
- Seal, C. J. and C. K. Reynolds. 1993. Nutritional implications of gastrointestinal and liver metabolism in ruminants. Nutr. Res. Rev. 6:185-208.
- Sharpley, A., J. J. Meisinger, A. Breeuwsma, J. T. Sims, T. C. Daniel, and J. S. Schepers. 1998. Impact of animal manure management on ground and surface water quality. In: J. L. Hatfield and B. A. Stewart (Eds.) Animal waste utilization: effective use of manure as a soil resource. pp. 173-242. Ann Arbor Press, Chelsea, MI.
- Smil, V. 2000. Phosphorus in the environment: Natural Flows and Human Interferences. Annu. Rev. Energy Environ. 25:53-88.
- Smith, R. H. and A. B. McAllan. 1970. Nucleic acid metabolism in the ruminant. 2. Formation of microbial nucleic acids in the rumen in relation to the digestion of food nitrogen, and fate of dietary nucleic acids. Br. J. Nutr. 24:545-556.
- Sniffen, C. J., J. D. O'Connor, P. J. Van Soest, D. G. Fox, and J. B. Russell. 1992. A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: II. Carbohydrate and protein availability. J Anim Sci 70:3562-3577.
- Soares Jr, J. H. 1995. Phosphorus bioavailability. In: C. B. Ammerman, D. H. Baker, and A. J. Lewis (Eds.) Bioavailability of nutrients for animals, amino acids, minerals and vitamins. pp. 257-294. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego.
- Spears, J. W. 1996. Optimizing mineral levels and sources of farm animals. In: E. T. Kornegay (Ed.) Nutrient management of food animals to enhance and protect the environment. pp. 259-276. CRC Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.
- St-Pierre, N. R. and C. S. Thraen. 1999. Animal grouping strategies, sources of variation, and economic factors affecting nutrient balance on dairy farms. J. Anim. Sci. 77 (Suppl 2):72-83.
- Stewart, C. S. and M. P. Bryant. 1997. The rumen bacteria. In: P. N. Hobson (Ed.) Rumen Microbial Ecosystems. pp. 21-74. Elsevier Applied Science, London.
- Sweeten, J. B. 1998. Cattle feedlot manure and wastewater management practices. In: J. L. Hatfield and B. A. Stewart (Eds.) Animal waste utilization: effective use of amnure as a soil resource. pp. 125-156. Ann Arbor Press, Chelsea, MI.

- Symonds, H. W., D. L. Mather, and D. L. Collins. 1981. The maximum capacity of the liver of the adult dairy cow to metabolize ammonia. Br. J. Nutr. 46:481-486.
- Tagari, H. and E. N. Bergman. 1978. Appearance of amino acids in sheep. J. Nutr. 108:790-803.
- Tamminga, S. 1992. Nutrition management of dairy cows as a contribution to pollution control. J. Dairy Sci. 75:345-357.
- Tamminga, S. 1996. A review on environmental impacts of nutritional strategies in ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 74:3112-3124.
- Tamminga, S. and M. W. A. Verstegen. 1996. Implications of nutrition of animals on environmental pollution. Recent Developments in Ruminant Nutrition 3:213-228.
- Ternouth, J. H. 1997. Phosphorus metabolism in ruminant animals. In: R. Onodera, H. Itabashi, K. Ushida, H. Yano, and Y. Sasaki (Eds.) Rumen microbes and digestive physiology in ruminants. pp. 167-177. Japan Scientific Society Press, Tokyo.
- Ternouth, J. H., H. M. Davies, J. T. Milton, M. W. Simpson, and N. E. Sands. 1985. Phosphorus metabolism in ruminants. I. Techniques for phosphorus depletion. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 36:637-645.
- Tilman, D. 1999. Global environmental impacts of agricultural expansion: The need for sustainable and efficient practices. PNAS 96:5995-6000.
- Tucker, R. W. and P. J. Watts. 1993. Waste minimization in cattle feedlots by ration modification. Transactions of the ASAE 36:1461-1466.
- Tyrell, H. F. Principles of animal nutrition and mass balance relative to nutrient management. 2001. Research Triangle Park, NC., College of Agriculture and Life Sciences, NCSU. International Symposium Proceedings Addressing animal production and environmental issues. 11-3-2001.
- Ulyatt, M. J., G. C. Waghorn, A. John, C. S. W. Reid, and J. Monro. 1984. Effect of intake and feeding frequency on feeding behaviour and quantitative aspects of digestion in sheep fed chaffed lucerne hay. J. Agric. Sci. Camb. 102:645-657.
- van der Hoek, K. W. 1998. Nitrogen efficiency in global animal production. Environmental Pollution 102:127-132.
- Van Der Walt, J. G. 1993. Nitrogen metabolism in the ruminant liver. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 44:381-403.
- Van Horn, H. H., G. L. Newton, and W. E. Kunkle. 1996. Ruminant nutrition from an environmental perspective: factors affecting whole farm nutrient balance. J. Anim. Sci. 74:3082-3102.

- Van Horn, H. H., A. C. Wilkie, W. J. Powers, and R. A. Nordstedt. 1994. Components of dairy manure management systems. J. Dairy Sci. 77:2008-2030.
- van Noordwijk, M. 1999. Nutrient cycling in ecosystems versus nutrient budgets of agricultural systems. In: E. M. A. Smaling, O. Oenema, and L. O. Fresco (Eds.) Nutrient disequilibria in agroecosystems concepts and case studies. pp. 1-26. CABI Publishing, London.
- Van Vuuren, A. M. and J. A. C. Meijs. 1987. Effect of herbage composition and supplement feeding on the excretion of nitrogen in dung and urine by grazing dairy cows. In: H. G. Van der Meer, R. J. Unwin, T. A. van Dijk, and G. C. Ennick (Eds.) Animal manure on grassland and fodder crops. Fertilizer or waste? pp. 17-25. Martinus Nijhoff, Dordrecht, Netherlands.
- Velthof, G. L. and O. Oenema. 1997. Nitrous oxide emission from dairy farming systems in the Netherlands. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science 45:347-360.
- Vernon, R. G. and S. Sasaki. 1991. Control of tissue responsiveness of tissues to hormones. In: T. Tsuda, Y. Sasaki, and R. Kawashima (Eds.) Physiological aspects of digestion and Metabolism in ruminants, Proceeding of the seventh International symposium on ruminant physiology. pp. 155-182. Academic Press, New York.
- Wallace, J. D. and M. A. Cotta. 1997. Metabolism of nitrogen containing compounds. In: P. N. Hobson (Ed.) Rumen Microbial Ecosystem. pp. 217-249. Elsevier Applied Science, London.
- Wallace, J. D., S. C. Loerch, and B. A. Dehority. 1988. Response of yearling range heifers to type and frequency of supplemental feeding. Proc. West. Sect. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci. 39:226-229.
- Wallace, R. J. 1985. Adsorption of soluble proteins to rumen bacteria and the role of adsorption in proteolysis. Br. J. Nutr. 53:399-408.
- Wallace, R. J. 1994. Amino acid and protein synthesis, turnover, and breakdown by ruminal microorganisms. In: J. M. Asplund (Ed.) Principles of protein nutrition of ruminants. pp. 71-112. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Wallace, R. J. 1996. Ruminal microbial metabolism of peptides and amino acids. J. Nutr. 126:1326s-1334s.
- Wallace, R. J. 1997. Peptide metabolism and its efficiency in ruminant production. In: R. Onodera, H. Itabashi, K. Ushida, H. Yano, and Y. Sasaki (Eds.) Rumen microbes and digestive physiology in ruminants. pp. 95-105. Japan Scientific Societies Press, Tokyo.
- Wasserman, R. H. 1981. Intestinal absorption of calcium and phosphorus. Fed. Proc. 40:68-72.

- Webb, K. E. 2000. Tissue, cellular and molecular aspects of peptide absorption and utilization. In: P. B. Cronje (Ed.) Ruminant Physiology: Digestion, metabolism, growth and reproduction. pp. 117-130. CAB.
- Webb, K. E., D. B. Dirienzo, and J. C. Matthews. 1993. Recent developments in gastrointestinal absorption and tissue utilization of peptides: a review. J. Dairy Sci. 76:351-361.
- Webb, K. E. and J. C. Matthews. 1994y. Absorption of amino acids and peptides. In: J. M. Asplund (Ed.) Principles of protein nutrition of ruminants. pp. 127-146. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Whitehead, D. C. 1995. Grassland Nitrogen. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Whitehead, D. C. 2000. Nutrient elements in grassland. Soil-Plant-Animal relationships. CAB International Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Wright, D. E. 1967. Metabolism of peptides by rumen microorganisms. Appl. Microbiol. 15:547-550.
- Wu, G. 1998. Intestinal Mucosal Amino Acid Catabolism. J. Nutr. 128:1249-1253.
- Wu, Z. and L. D. Satter. 2000a. Milk Production and Reproductive Performance of Dairy Cows Fed Two Concentrations of Phosphorus for Two Years. J. Dairy Sci. 83:1052-1063.
- Wu, Z. and L. D. Satter. 2000b. Milk Production During the Complete Lactation of Dairy Cows Fed Diets Containing Different Amounts of Protein. J. Dairy Sci. 83:1042-1051.
- Yano, F., H. Yano, and G. Breves. 1991. Calcium and phosphorus metabolism in ruminants. In: T. Tsuda, Y. Sasaki, and R. Kawashima (Eds.) Physiological aspects of digestion and Metabolism in ruminants, Proceeding of the seventh International symposium on ruminant physiology. pp. 277-296. Academic Press, New York.
- Yokohama, M. T. and K. A. Johnson. 1993. Microbiology of the rumen and intestine. In:
 D. C. Church (Ed.) The ruminant animal digestive physiology and nutrition. pp. 125-144. Waveland Press, Inc., Prospects Heights II.

CHAPTER III

EFFECT OF THE FREQUENCY OF SUPPLEMENTING CRACKED CORN ON ALFALFA HAY INTAKE, UTILIZATION, AND PERFORMANCE BY GROWING CATTLE

Abstract

Two trials were conducted to study the effect of frequency of cracked corn supplementation on intake, utilization and performance of alfalfa hay by growing cattle. In Trial I, eight runnially cannulated crossbred steers (501.9 ± 29.6) in a replicated 4 x 4 Latin square were given ad libitum access to chopped alfalfa hay with no supplement (CONT) or with a cracked corn supplement fed at one of three frequencies: 0.5 % of body weight (BW) every day (24); 1.0% of BW every other day (48) or 1.5% of BW every third day (72) (all animal eat the same on a 6d basis). Total organic matter intake was not different due to supplementing corn but it increased linearly (P < 0.01) as corn frequency increased. Total digestible organic matter intake (P < 0.05) and total tract digestibility (P<0.01) was increased by supplementing corn. Frequency of supplementation decreased linearly (P < 0.01) total organic matter and increased linearly (P<0.01) total tract digestibility as feeding interval decreased. Feeding cracked corn increased total tract apparent digestibility of ADF (P < 0.01) and of NDF (P = 0.07). Ruminal concentration of butyrate (P < 0.01) and the acetate to propionate ratio (P < 0.05) of ruminal fluid was decreased by corn supplementation. In Trial 2, 60 Holstein heifers (198 kg) were stratified by weight and assigned to the same four treatments with the

exception that hay was not chopped. After 90 d on trial, feeding supplemental corn increased average daily gain and final weight (P<0.01), and both decreased linearly (P<0.01) as time interval between supplement feedings increased for the corn treatments. These data suggest that supplementing alfalfa hay with corn grain increased intake of digestible OM and increased ADG but supplementing at less frequent intervals (2d; 3d) increased hay digestibility slightly, but reduced intake of hay OM markedly and thereby reduced intake of digestible OM, and ADG.

Introduction

Supplementation of high quality forages with grain usually increases daily gains (Horn and McCollum III, 1987), total organic matter intake (Elizalde et al., 1999a) and digestibility of organic matter (Norton et al., 1982). Feeding frequency with supplements have been studied for protein supplements (Beaty et al., 1994; Farmer et al., 2001; Krehbiel et al., 1998) and grain (Chase and Hibberd, 1989; Wallace et al., 1988) on low quality forages. Feeding frequency has also been studied with oscillating protein for grain diets with lambs (Cole, 1999) or as a tool for trying to synchronize carbohydrate and nitrogen requirements in the rumen within the same day (Michalowski, 2001; Robinson and McQueen, 1994). However, almost no reports on the effect of the frequency of grain supplementation on high quality forages are reported in the literature.

The objective of this study was to examine the effect of frequency (every 24, 48 or 72h) of feeding the same amount of cracked corn (on a 6d basis) on intake, digestibility, ruminal parameters, and performance of cattle fed alfalfa hay ad libitum.

Materials and Methods

Experiment 1: Metabolism Trial

Animal and Diets

Eight ruminally cannulated crossbreed steers (Hereford x Angus, 501.9 ± 29.6 kg) were assigned randomly to two 4 x 4 Latin squares at the nutrition physiology barn (Oklahoma State University). Steers were weighed at initiation and completion of each 18-d period. Steers were housed in individual indoor 3 x 4-m pens for 9 d each period. On d 10, they were moved to individual metabolism stalls for a 3-d adaptation and a 6-d collection period. The treatments included: chopped alfalfa hay ad libitum and a mineral vitamin premix (CONT), chopped alfalfa hay plus 0.5% of body weight (BW) cracked corn every day (24), chopped alfalfa hay plus 1.0% BW cracked corn every second day (48), or chopped alfalfa hay plus 1.5% BW as cracked corn every third day (72). Animals were fed each morning at 0800 and had continuous access to chopped alfalfa hay and water. Supplemental corn was administered as shown in table 2.

Sample Collection and Preparation.

Intakes of hay and corn were recorded daily and refused hay was weighed back. Corn and hay samples were composited across days and animals within periods. All feeds either hay or corn were from a single source were composited across periods at trial completion and ground to pass a 2-mm screen in a Wiley mill for determination of DM, OM, NDF, ADF and CP. Total urine and feces were collected daily during the sampling period. Feces were weighed and a subsample was dried at 65 °C and stored for latter analysis of dry matter (DM), organic matter (OM), acid detergent fiber (ADF), neutral

detergent fiber (NDF), and fecal nitrogen. Urine was acidified with HCl to stop volatilization, was weighed every 12 hours and a subsample was frozen (-10°C) for later N analyses and another one for density that was measured immediately. At 0 h of d 16, 17 and 18, before being fed, CoEDTA (200 mL; 1.2 g of Co; Uden et al., 1980) was dosed via ruminal cannula for determination liquid passage rate (Kpf). During this 3-d period, at 0, 3, 6, 9, 15 and 24 h after feeding of each day, ruminal fluid and solid samples were collected each day to determine marker concentrations from three locations in the rumen (caudal-ventral, medial-ventral, and cranial ventral) of each steer and strained through eight layers of cheesecloth. A portable combination electrode pH meter (Corning 314i pH/mV/temperature portable pH meter with an ion selective field effect transistor electrode, Corning, NY) was used to determine pH. Following pH measurement, strained ruminal fluid samples were acidified with 1 ml of 7.2 N H_2SO_4 and store frozen (-10°C). A 30 ml blood sample was also collected on days 16, 17 and 18 at 6 and 24 hours after feeding via tail venipuncture, using vacuum containers for serum collection with no additives. Samples were immediately placed in a refrigerator, and were centrifuged and frozen within twelve hours. All samples according they were 6d collection or 3d collection were composited for laboratory analysis according to the scheme shown in Table 2.

Laboratory Analyses

Dry matter was determined by oven drying at 105 °C for 24 h. Ash content of fecal, corn and alfalfa hay was determined by ashing at 500 °C for 6 h in a muffle furnace. Nitrogen content of the alfalfa hay, corn, feces and urine was determined by

Kjeldahl N (AOAC, 1996). Corn, alfalfa hay and fecal sample NDF (procedure A, without sodium sulfite), ADF and ADIA concentrations were determined as described by Van Soest (1991)using Ankom 200 (Ankom Technology, Fairport, NY).

Ruminal fluid samples were thawed, centrifuged (10,000 x g; 10 min) and subsampled for Co-EDTA, NH₃-N, and VFA determination. Subsamples for VFA analysis were composited across time and days within steer and period. Concentration of Co was determined by atomic absorption spectroscopy (Model 4000, Perkin Elmer, Norwalk, CT) with an air plus acetylene flame (Hart and Polan, 1984). Ruminal NH₃-N concentration was determined colorimetrically by enzymatic procedure (Sigma, 1995). Concentrations of VFA were determined after desproteinizing 5-ml samples of ruminal fluid with 1 ml of 25% metaphosphoric acid (Erwin et al., 1961) and centrifuging at 20,000 x g for 15 min. Individual VFA were separated by gas chromatography (Perkin Elmer Autosystem, 9000 series) using 8 ml/min flow rate of ultra high-purity helium as a carrier gas with 2-ethylbutyric acid as an internal standard.

Calculations

Fluid dilution rate was the slope of the natural logarithm of Co concentration regressed against time (Galyean, 1997). Ruminal pH area below a line of 6.2 and pH curve and the time that pH remained below 6.2 was calculated by using spline curves (piece wise polynomial functions) with MATLAB (MathWorks Inc.). Area and time were calculated for 6 days by using the 3d curves of CONT, 24 and 72 and multiplying by 2 and for treatment 48 as shown in table 2 and multiply by 3. Apparent total tract hay OM

digestibility was calculated assuming a constant indigestibility of corn using 100 minus the tabular value of corn from the NRC (1996).

Experiment 2. Performance Trial

Animals and Diets.

Sixty Holstein heifers (199 kg; 14 mo old) and eight cannulated heifers were stratified by weight and assigned to the same four treatments with the exception that hay was not chopped. Animals were fed in a drylot at INIA La Estanzuela Experiment Station (lat 34° 20° S, long 57° 41° W), Colonia, Uruguay for 110 d (20 d for adaptation and 90 d for measurements). Round alfalfa bales (330 kg) were offered ad libitum with a salt premix also ad lib. Due to a drought in the spring and summer alfalfa bales were of a quality lower than expected. Animals were sorted each morning at 0800 and those receiving supplemental corn were fed individually. Animals were weighed every 14 d with intake of corn DM being adjusted at this time.

Sample Collection Preparation and analysis.

Starting on d 60, animals were fed chromic oxide for 9 d with fecal samples being collected the final 3 d. A subsample was taken for latter analysis and composited according to Table 2. Subsamples were analyzed for NDF, ADF and Cr. Samples were analyzed with the same procedure of Trial 1. Calculations of intake were done as explained for trial 1.

Statistical Analysis

Trial 1. The two Latin squares were analyzed for intake, digestion, fecal output, mean ruminal value, mean VFA values, mean Kpf value. Period, animal, and treatment were

included as source of variation and the statistical analyses were performed using the GLM procedure of SAS (1999). Linear and quadratic effects of frequency of feeding were tested using contrast statements. Contrast comparison corn treatments versus control were also done. Analysis of the repeated measures was done using the SAS/MIXED procedure (version 8, 1999). For each response variable covariance structures of the repeated measures were selected based on model fit criteria.

Trial 2. The heifers were stratified by weight in a complete randomized block design. It was analyzed using the GLM of SAS. Contrast statements were used for the same comparisons as explained for trial 1.

Results and Discussion

Trial 1. Intake and total tract digestibility. Intake as % of BW was not affected by cracked corn supplementation but decreasing frequency of supplementation tended (P<0.01) to reduce intake (Table 3). Total organic matter intake was not affected by corn supplementation, but it was decreased linearly (P<0.01) by decreasing feeding frequency (Table 3). Supplementation lowered hay organic matter intake (P<0.01) and hay as percentage of intake (P<0.01) when compared to the control and decreased linearly (P<0.01) as feeding frequency decreased. However, DOMI was increased by supplementation (P<0.05) and decreased linearly (P<0.05) as feeding frequency decreased herate of substitution and decreased no

supplement. In treatments 48 and 72 there was a decrease in the immediate day after feeding corn on total OM intake. The days heifers were fed corn the proportion of grain in the diet was higher than 20-30% which according to Ørskov (1986), higher than this proportion may depress intake to a larger extent. However, in treatment 24 although there was substitution, supplementation with corn increased total organic matter intake, and as reviewed by Minson (1990) a combination of moderate amounts of supplement added to forage increased total voluntary intake but this increment is less than the quantity of supplement that is included in the diet. A reduction in DM intake was also observed by Hart (1987) feeding sorghum silage and soybean meal supplemented with 26 or 39% of corn in alternate days than when it was supplemented every day.

NDF and ADF. Intake of ADF and NDF was greater by the CONT treatment (P<0.01; Table 4) mainly because the composition of the diet was only hay, while for the other treatments corn was between 18-22% of the total diet (Table 3) and there were no differences in total organic matter intake due to corn supplementation. Fecal output of NDF and ADF was decreased (P<0.01) by corn supplementation. Total tract ADF and NDF apparent digestibility was increased by corn supplementation (P<.01, P=0.07; respectively). Increasing feeding frequency decreased linearly (P<0.01) ADF intake, fecal output and digestibility and also linearly decreased (P<0.01) NDF intake and fecal output and decreased apparent total tract digestibility (P<0.01). Depressions in fiber digestibility are not severe until supplemented grain reaches either 20 to 30 % or 300 g kg⁻¹ of intake whereas smaller inclusions may increase fiber digestion (Galyean and Goetsch, 1993). The proportion proposed by these authors for affecting fiber digestion is higher than the average of supplemented corn for the treatments in this trial, although the

same day's corn was supplemented in the treatments 48 and 72 that proportion was higher. Elizalde et al. (1999) found that fiber digestibility of fresh alfalfa was not depressed by increasing the level of corn from 0 to 1.2% of BW.

Nitrogen. Intake of nitrogen was greater by CONT (P<0.05) than for corn-supplemented treatments and it was decreased as feeding interval decreased (P<0.01). As total organic matter of CONT didn't differ from supplemented treatments this difference is expected since alfalfa hay has a larger concentration of nitrogen. Fecal output of nitrogen was not affected by corn supplementation but it was increased as the frequency of feeding increased (P<0.02). Heifers of all supplemented treatments ate all the same amount of corn (Table 3), but total OM intake was linearly decreased as feeding frequency decreased due to a decrease in hay intake. Therefore the reduction in nitrogen intake is mainly explained by this reduction in hay intake. Apparent total tract digestibility of nitrogen was not affected by corn supplementation but show a trend to increase (P=0.10) as supplementation interval increased. A linear decrease in total tract apparent digestibility and a linear decrease in nitrogen intake was observed by Elizalde et al.,(1999b) when increasing the amount of cracked corn with fresh alfalfa.

Ruminal parameters

Volatile fatty acids (VFA). Total VFAs were not affected either by corn supplementation or feeding frequency (Table 5). Neither acetate, propionate , isobutyrate, valerate or isovalerate was affected by corn supplementation or by feeding frequency. The acetate propionate relation (A/P) was affected by corn supplementation (P<0.05) as also butyrate concentration (P<0.01).

Ruminal pH was analyzed by two different approaches. First all the pH was aligned with the corn feeding time (Figure 1). Analyzed as repeated measurements, the CONT treatment was different from 24 (P=0.09) and 48 and 72 (P<0.01) and 24, 48 and 72 were different among them (P < 0.01) for the first 24 hours. The second approach through polynomial functions calculated for each individual animal (Table 5) showed that the area below a line of 6.2 and the individual curve of pH and the time in hours under 6.2 was different (P < 0.01) for supplemented treatments. This is in accordance with most of the literature published that show that the inclusion of grains to forage reduces ruminal pH. Increasing feeding frequency decreased in a quadratic form (P < 0.05) the area below 6.2 and pH curve and decreased linearly (P < 0.01) the time in hours that pH is below 6.2 (Figure 2, Table 5). A rumen pH below 6.2 will affect cellulolytic bacteria growth (Ørskov, 1986) and may affect fiber digestion in the rumen. Although the hours under 6.2 and the area below was greater for supplemented treatments and was increased by decreasing feeding frequency, NDF and ADF digestion was improved by decreasing the feeding frequency.

Dilution rate (%/h) or Kpf was not different between supplemented treatments and the control. However, there was a linear (P < 0.01) decrease in Kpf as feeding frequency increased. Ruminal fluid is very important since it is the biological active and soluble fraction (Owens and Goetsch, 1993). A higher retention time in the rumen may have increased fiber digestibility explaining the results observed. Also a higher retention time will reduce feed intake as this reduction was observed as frequency decreased was observed in this trial. Stensig and Robinson (1997) found that by increasing the amount

of concentrate in the diets of dairy cows fed alfalfa silage ruminal retention time of fiber was increased, however it didn't affect intake.

Ruminal ammonia was decreased immediately after feeding time being more severe when corn was fed (P<0.05) and as feeding frequency increased (Figure 3). Ammonia in the rumen is available from three major sources that are the forage, the supplement and through recycle through the wall either by diffusion through the ruminal wall or via saliva (Owens et al., 1991). For these same authors with forages with more than 10 % CP, ammonia supply from the forage alone will be enough unless rumen degradable protein falls below 55% which is not the case in this trial. The amount of ammonia in the rumen reflects solubility and fermentability of the dietary and endogenous sources of N (Huntington and Archibeque, 1999). The optimum levels varies according to diet, however, values between 5 and 8.5 NH₃ mg/dl are considered in most cases enough for a normal rumen function (Roffler and Satter, 1975; Satter and Slyter, 1974). In our trial the level of ruminal ammonia was above 5 so we didn't find a biological value to study the area under the curve. Ruminal nitrogen was also decreased when increasing levels of cracked corn were supplemented (Elizalde et al., 1999b).

Blood parameters

Serum urea nitrogen show the same trends as ruminal ammonia and ruminal pH (Figure 4). There was a greater decrease in serum urea nitrogen in supplemented than in non supplemented cattle and this decrement was larger as feeding frequency increased. The principal factors affecting the rate of endogenous urea transfer from the blood to the lumen of the gastrointestinal tract are the organic matter digestibility, plasma concentration of urea, and ruminal ammonia concentration (Kennedy and Milligan, 1980)

and capillary flow and CO_2 tension (Huntington and Archibeque, 1999). Although recycling was not measured in this trial, lower pH and ruminal ammonia observed as feeding frequency decreased may be indicative of a higher fermentability the day corn was fed and a decrease in these parameters will to some extend increase the removal of urea nitrogen from blood explaining the differences observed in this trial.

Trial 2.

There were differences (P < 0.01) in ADG and final weight in the Holstein heifers fed corn (Table 6). Supplementation of medium to high-quality forages with an energy supplement usually increases ADG (Horn and McCollum III, 1987). ADG increased (P < 0.01) as feeding frequency increased. There are no reports that we are aware that have examined the effect of supplement feeding frequency in medium to high quality hay. These results are in agreement with what was measured in Experiment 1. Differences may be given mainly by the intake of DOMI.

These two trials suggest that supplementing alfalfa hay with corn grain increased intake of digestible OM and increased ADG. However, supplementing at less frequent intervals (48h; 72h) increased hay digestibility slightly, but reduced intake of hay OM markedly and thereby reduced intake of digestible OM and ADG

Implications

By supplementing corn it is possible to increased ADG, however, the frequency of supplementation will be a balance between the price of alfalfa, corn and labor. Supplementing every 48 h may be a reasonable option where labor and alfalfa costs are high although some ADG will be sacrifice.

Literature cited

AOAC. 1996. Official Methods of Analysis. Arlington, VA.

- Beaty, J. L., R. C. Cochran, B. A. Lintzenich, E. S. Vanzant, J. L. Morril, R. T. Brandt, and D. E. Johnson. 1994. Effect of frequency of supplementation and protein concentration in supplements on perfomance and digestion characteristics of beef cattle consuming low quality forages. J. Anim. Sci. 72:2475-2486.
- Chase, C. C. and C. A. Hibberd. 1989. Effect of level and frequency of maize supplementation on the utilization of low quality grass hay by beef cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 24:129-139.
- Cole, N. A. 1999. Nitrogen retention by lambs fed oscillating dietary protein concentrations. J. Anim. Sci. 77:215-222.
- Elizalde, J. C., N. R. Merchen, and D. B. Faulkner. 1999a. Supplemental cracked corn for steers fed fresh alfalfa: I. Effects on digestion of organic matter, fiber and starch. J. Anim. Sci. 77:457-466.
- Elizalde, J. C., N. R. Merchen, and D. B. Faulkner. 1999b. Supplemental cracked corn for steers fed fresh alfalfa: II. protein and amino acid digestion. J. Anim. Sci. 77:467-475.
- Erwin, E. S., D. J. Marco, and E. M. Emery. 1961. Volatile fatty acid analysis of blood and rumen fluid by gas chromatography. J. Dairy Sci. 44:1768-1771.
- Farmer, C., R. C. Cochran, D. D. Simms, E. A. Klevesahl, T. A. Wickersham, and D. E. Johnson. 2001. The effects of several supplementation frequencies on forage use and the performance of beef cattle consuming dormant tallgrass prairie forage. J. Anim. Sci. 79:2276-2284.
- Galyean, M. L. Laboratory procedures in animal nutrition research. 1997. Available at http://www.asft.ttu.edu/home/mgalyean/lab_man.pdf accesed 01/20/01.
- Galyean, M. L. and A. L. Goetsch. 1993. Utilization of forage fiber by ruminants. In: H. G. Jung, D. R. Buxton, R. D. Hatfield, and J. Ralph (Eds.) Forage cell wall structure digestibility. pp. 33-71. ASA, Madison.
- Hart, S. P. 1987. The influence of frequency of feeding and grain form on digestibility of forage grain mixtures. J. Anim. Sci. 65:474.
- Hart, S. P. and C. E. Polan. 1984. Simultaneous extraction and determination of ytterbium and cobalt ethylenediamine-tetraacetate complex in feces. J. Dairy Sci. 67:888-892.

- Horn, G. W. and F. T. McCollum III. Energy supplementation of grazing ruminants. Judkins, M. Proc.Grazing Livestock Nutrition Conf. 1, 125-136. 1987. Jackson, WY.
- Huntington, G. B. and S. L. Archibeque. 1999. Practical aspects of urea and ammonia metabolism in ruminants. Proc. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci.
- Kennedy, P. M. and L. P. Milligan. 1980. The degradation and utilization of endogenous urea in gastrointestinal tract of ruminants: a review. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 60:205-221.
- Krehbiel, C. R., C. L. Ferrell, and H. C. Freetly. 1998. Effects of frequency of supplementation on dry matter intake and net portal and hepatic flux of nutrients in mature ewes that consume low- quality forage. J. Anim. Sci. 76:2464-2473.
- Michalowski, T. 2001. Effect of feeding frequency on the diurnal changes in microbial protein, volatile fatty acids and ammonia contents of the rumen of sheep. J. Agric. Sci. Camb. 93:67-70.

Minson, D. J. 1990d. Forage in ruminant nutrition. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA.

- Norton, B. W., J. B. Mackintosh, and D. G. Armstrong. 1982. Urea synthesis and degradation in sheep given pelleted grass diets containing flaked barley. Br. J. Nutr. 48:249-263.
- NRC. 1996. Nutrients requirements of beef cattle (7th Ed.). National Academy Press, Washington D.C.
- Owens, F. N., J. Garza, and P. Dubeski. 1991. Advances in amino acid and N nutrition in grazing ruminants. Grazing Livestock Nutrition Conference 2:109-137.
- Owens, F. N. and A. L. Goetsch. 1993. Ruminal fermentation. In: D. C. Church (Ed.) The Ruminant Animal. Digestive physiology and nutrition. pp. 145-171. Waveland Press Inc., Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Ørskov, E. R. 1986. Rumen microorganism and their nutrition. In: E. R. Orskov (Ed.) Protein nutrition in ruminants. pp. 20-42. Academic Press, London.
- Ørskov, E. R. 1986. Starch digestion and utilization in ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 63:1624-1633.
- Robinson, P. H. and R. E. McQueen. 1994. Influence of supplemental protein source and feeding frequency on rumen fermentation and performance in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77:1340-1353.
- Roffler, R. E. and L. D. Satter. 1975. Relationship between ruminal ammonia and nonprotein nitrogen utilization by ruminants. II. Application of published

evidence to the development of theoretical model for predicting nonprotein nitrogen utilization. J. Dairy Sci. 58:1889-1898.

- Satter, L. D. and L. L. Slyter. 1974. Effect of ammonia concentration of rumen microbial protein production in vitro. Br. J. Nutr. 32:199-208.
- Sigma. 1995. Ammonia. Quantitative, Enzymatic Determination of ammonia in plasma at 340nm. Procedure 171-UV (rev. ed.). Sigma Diagnostics, St. Louis, MO.
- Stensig, T. and P. H. Robinson. 1997. Digestion and passage kinetics of forage fiber in dairy cows as affected by fiber-free concentrate in the diet. J. Dairy Sci. 80:1339-1352.
- Uden, P., P. E. Colucci, and P. J. Van Soest. 1980. Investigation of chromium, cerium and cobalt as markers in digesta. Rate of passage studies. J. Sci. Food Agric. 31:625-631.
- Van Soest, P. J., J. B. Robertson, and B. A. Lewis. 1991. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J Dairy Sci 74:3583-3597.
- Wallace, J. D., S. Rafique, and E. E. Parker. 1988. Response of yearling range heifers to type and frequency of supplemental feeding. Proc. West. Sect. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci. 39:226-229.

Table 1. Chemical composition of the diet (DM basis)

	Tria	al 1	Tria	al 2
ITEM	Alfalfa	Corn	Alfalfa	Corn
DM	89.01	88.30	88.23	89.27
Ash	8.22	1.35	12.28	3.67
Nitrogen	3.36	1.40	2.53	1.42
NDF	52.30	24.93	64.91	17.04
ADF	36.03	5.23	41.22	5.78

Table 2. Scheme of feeding cracked corn supplement and how samples were composited for analysis the treatments during collection period

	Day of collection period								
<u> </u>	1	2	3	4	5	6			
Corn as %BW									
CONT									
24	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5			
48	0	1.0	0	1.0	0	1.0			
72	1.5	0	0	1.5	0	0			
6-d collection									
CONT	1	1	1	1	1	1			
24	1	1	1	1	1	1			
48	1	2	1	2	1	2			
72	1	2	3	1	2	3			
3-d collection									
CONT				1	1	1			
24				1	1	1			
48				1	2	1			
72				1	2	3			

Same number within row was composited for lab analysis and final statistics

Table 3. Intake, digestibility and digestible intake of organic matter (DOMI) by steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn

	Treatment ^a				_	Contrasts ^b		
		Feedin	ig Frequenc	y (hours)	_	CONT		
	CONT	24	48	72	SEM ^c	vs Corn	L	Q
	· · ·						Р	
Intake as % BW	2.57	2.80	2.50	2.34	0.09	0.81	< 0.01	0.79
Intake OM kg/d								
Hay	12.64	11.49	10.09	9.47	0.48	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.58
Corn		2.48	2.48	2.46				
Total	12.64	13.95	12.58	11.99	0.48	0.70	< 0.01	0.55
Hay as % intake	100.00	82.21	80.04	78.51	0.73	< 0.01	<0.01	0.86
Digestibility OM	68.89	71.66	73.90	75.04	1.06	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.64
DOMI kg/d	8.72	10.01	9.27	8.97	0.33	<0.05	0.02	0.65

 a CONT = Control alfalfa ad libitum; 24, 48 and 72 = alfalfa ad libitum and cracked corn supplementation every day, every other day or every third day at .5, 1 and 1.5% of BW respectively.

^bPreplanned contrasts with *P*-values control vs corn supplemented steers; L = linear Q = quadratic for corn supplemented steers only.

^cStandard error of the mean.

Table 4. Total intake, fecal output and total tract apparent digestibility of ADF ash free and NDF ash free and nitrogen by steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn

	Treatment ^a				_		Contrasts ^b	ntrasts ^b	
		Feeding Frequency			-	CONT			
	CONT	24	48	72	SEM ^c	vs Corn	L	Q	
							P	· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
ADF									
Intake kg/d	4.55	4.25	3.75	3.52	0.17	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.57	
Fecal Output kg/d	2.16	1.99	1.57	1.40	0.10	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.39	
Digestibility %	52.55	53.16	58.26	60.70	1.41	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.45	
NDF									
Intake kg/d	6.65	6.32	5.59	5.26	0.25	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.57	
Fecal Output kg/d	2.45	2.35	1.87	1.69	0.12	< 0.01	<0.01	0.36	
Digestibility %	63.15	62.79	66.61	67.90	1.30	0.07	< 0.01	0.45	
Nitrogen									
Intake g/d	445.83	443.21	394.39	372.89	16.85	0.03	<0.01	0.56	
Fecal Output g/d	110.12	116.77	103.02	92.17	6.33	0.37	0.01	0.98	
Digestibility %	75.28	73.62	74.02	75.41	0.77	0.27	0.10	0.61	

^aCONT = Control alfalfa ad libitum; 24, 48 and 72 = alfalfa ad libitum and cracked corn

supplementation every day, every other day or every third day at .5, 1 and 1.5% of BW respectively. ^bPreplanned contrasts with *P*-values control vs corn supplemented steers; L = linear Q = quadratic forcorn supplemented steers only.

^cStandard error of the mean.

	Treatment ^a					Contrasts ^b			
		Feeding Frequency			CONT Vs				
	CONT	24	48	72	SEM ^c	Corn	L	Q	
							P		
VFA, mmol/L									
Acetate	84.67	81.78	82.26	80.01	2.49	0.22	0.60	0.63	
Propionate	18.59	19.16	19.62	19.59	0.82	0.33	0.75	0.83	
Butyrate	7.63	8.97	9.15	10.64	0.61	<0.01	0.06	0.17	
Isobutyrate	1.87	1.88	1.83	1.85	0.06	0.77	0.71	0.67	
Valerate	2.20	2.06	2.03	2.20	0.92	0.31	0.32	0.37	
Isovalerate	1.91	2.04	2.04	2.14	0.11	0.18	0.51	0.69	
Total	118.87	115.18	116.93	116.41	3.26	0.89	0.90	0.83	
Acetate/Propionate	4.54	4.37	4.24	4.11	0.13	0.04	0.31	0.98	
Dilution rate %/h	8.45	8.97	7.39	6.92	0.52	0.22	<0.01	0.36	
Area pH (6d)	1.05	2.88	6.55	17.63	1.14	<0.01	< 0.01	0.03	
Time h (6d)	13.77	27.54	40.86	50.63	5.10	< 0.01	<0.01	0.74	

Table 5. Ruminal VFA concentration, acetate to propionate ratio, dilution rate, pH area below a 6.2 line and the pH curve in 6 d and time in hours that pH was under 6.2 for 6 d of steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn

^aCONT = Control alfalfa ad libitum; 24, 48 and 72 = alfalfa ad libitum and cracked corn

supplementation every day, every other day or every third day at .5, 1 and 1.5% of BW respectively.

^bPreplanned contrasts with *P*-values control vs corn supplemented steers; L = linear Q = quadratic for corn supplemented steers only.

^cStandard error of the mean.

		Treatment ^a				Contrasts ^b			
		Feeding Frequency (hours)			CONT				
	CONT	24	48	72	SEM ^c	Corn	L	Q	
							Р		
Weight (kg)									
Initial	199.9	198.4	194.1	198.9	2.2	0.26	0.88	0.23	
Final	243.9	267.9	261.3	254.6	3.9	< 0.01	<0.01	0.98	
ADG (kg)	0.48	0.77	0.75	0.62	0.03	<0.01	<0.01	0.21	

Table 6. Initial, final weight and average daily gain (ADG) of steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn after 90d (Trial 2)

^aCONT = Control alfalfa ad libitum; 24, 48 and 72 = alfalfa ad libitum and cracked corn

supplementation every day, every other day or every third day at .5, 1 and 1.5% of BW respectively. ^bPreplanned contrasts with *P*-values control vs corn supplemented steers; L = linear Q = quadratic for corn supplemented steers only.

^cStandard error of the mean.

Figure 1. Ruminal pH in steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn







Figure 2. Example of the spline curves for the same steer in each period and treatment.

CONT











Figure 3. Ruminal ammonia in steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn.



CONT = Control alfalfa ad libitum; 24, 48 and 72 = alfalfa ad libitum and cracked corn supplementation every day, every other day or every third day at .5, 1 and 1.5% of BW respectively

Figure 4. Serum urea nitrogen in steers fed alfalfa hay ad libitum and three different feeding frequencies of cracked corn.



CONT = Control alfalfa ad libitum; 24, 48 and 72 = alfalfa ad libitum and cracked corn supplementation every day, every other day or every third day at .5, 1 and 1.5% of BW respectively

CHAPTER IV

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF FIVE DIFFERENT DAIRY SYSTEMS OF URUGUAY

Abstract

Budgets of inputs, outputs and losses of five different technological systems of Uruguay are analyzed, compared and discussed. The systems include five different models that were identified according to type of crop pasture rotation, production and use of hay and/or silage, use of concentrates, stocking rate (milking and dry cows per ha) and how much of the milking potential of the cow is really used (Duran, 2000). Model I is based on natural range, annual species (oat, wheat), but no use of hay or silage. Model II incorporates improved pastures with legumes (no crop pasture rotation), phosphate fertilizers, and decreased use of concentrates per cow. Stocking rate is increased by a 40% with respect to Model I. Model III farmers use farm planning for animal nutrition, crop-pasture rotation and reproductive performance. Model IV increases the stocking rate of Model III by 40% by doubling the use of concentrates. Model V tries to increase production relative to the genetic potential of the cows, requires more concentrate and balanced diets are used to produce more milk with an increase in the stocking rate of system IV. The first three models were identified through surveys from farmers and partial modeling while models IV and V were modeled and then validated three year each for milk production, use of silage and concentrates.

Nitrogen balance for model I was not sustainable in the long term. However, for the other models, N was in excess from 24 to 73 kg⁻¹ ha⁻¹ increase as stocking rate and use of concentrate increase. However, efficiency of utilization of N (output/input) increased with the intensity of producion. Phosphorus accumulates in the farm at a rate from 0.6 to 8.8 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Efficiency of use of P varied from 28 to 40% having the low-input low-output models the same efficiency as the more intense model (V). The potassium balance was negative for all the systems considered. The lack of K fertilizer use and the rich K soils have hidden this loss. Eventually potassium will become a limiting nutrient in the sustainability of dairy farms in Uruguay.

Introduction

In the last 35 years world food production has doubled but that increase has occurred in association with a 6.87 fold increase in nitrogen fertilizer use, a 3.48 fold increase in phosphorus fertilizer use, a 1.68-fold increase in the amount of irrigated cropland, and a 1.1-fold increase in land in cultivation (Tilman, 1999). The increased use of fertilizer, increased stocking rates and the increased use of concentrates has also led to an increase in potential environmental problems. However, the problems with nutrient pollution are not generally the result of mismanagement by farmers, but the result of evolving agricultural systems with no direct costs or penalties associated with environmental quality (Beegle et al., 2000).

Dairy farming is an important part of Uruguayan agriculture occupying over one million hectares and generating 229 million dollars as gross product value in 1999. In the last 20 years the Dairy Sector in Uruguay has adopted better technology due to the need

to maintain income because national and international prices had declined. During this process Uruguay changed from being a milk importer to be a net milk exporter while domestic consumption increased from 270 to 470 liters per capita. Between 50 and 60 % of the total milk that is industrialized of Uruguay's is exported (Duran, 2000).

Intensification and specialization with increased stocking rates, use of the soil, and use of concentrates have been the main processes of dairy farms in Uruguay. High use of inputs may cause farm fields to be non-point sources of pollution. Nutrient management is the internationally accepted strategy for addressing non-point farm pollution (Beegle et al., 2000). Nutrient management is a mass balance that begins with an accurate quantification of nutrients entering the livestock production system and nutrients leaving the system (Tyrell, 2001).

The objective of this study is to quantify through a nutrient mass balance for nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium the environmental impact of five dairy systems in Uruguay.

Materials and Methods

Description of the models

Taking into account five production factors, Duran (2000) identified five technological models that farmers are going through in order to intensify its production. These factors are:

- 1. Type of crop pasture rotation
- 2. Production and use of hay and/or silage
- 3. Use of concentrates

4. Stocking rate (Milking and dry cows per ha)

5. How much of the milking potential of the cow is really used. These models were called:

- 1. Extensive Grazing. (Model I). This system has been used for decades and is based on natural range, annual species (oat, wheat), but no use of hay or silage.
- 2. Improved Grazing. (Model II) Incorporates improved pastures with legumes, phosphate fertilizers, and decreased use of concentrates per cow. Stocking rate is increased by 40% with respect to Model I. Although improved pastures are incorporated there are not crop pasture rotations implemented. The species that are mainly used are white clover (*Trifolium repens*), birdsfoot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*), red clover (*Trifolium pratense*) alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) and tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea*).
- 3. **Organized**. (Model III) In this model farmers use farm planning for animal nutrition, crop-pasture rotation and reproductive performance. The preplanned crop-pasture rotation tries to maximize the use of the soil, and includes not only legumes and the species mentioned above but also annual crops for forage (maize, sorghum, oat etc.)
- Controlled. (Model IV) This model increases the stocking rate of Model III by 40% by doubling the use of concentrates.
- Advanced. (Model V) Currently only 60 % of the genetic potential of the cows is used. In this model more concentrate and balanced diets are used to produce more milk.

The characteristics of each model are summarized in Table 1..

The crop pasture rotation used for models IV and V was as follow (starting the

year in fall)

Year I	Improved pasture with legumes associated with wheat
Year 2	Second year old improved pasture
Year 3	Third year old improved pasture
Year 4	Fourth year old improved pasture / sorghum with chicory and red clover
Year 5	Chicory and red clover / corn and oat
Year 6	Oat / corn for silage

A 10 % percent of the area is range.

A summary of each system is presented in Table 1. Models I through III have been developed from farms, partial modeling and by surveys. Models IV and V were developed and implemented (prototyping) in practice three years (92-94 and 95-97 respectively) at La Estanzuela Experiment Station (lat 34° 20° S long 57° 41° W) Colonia, Uruguay. Because the prototypes cannot be analyzed statistically in conventional ways monitoring and disciplinary research are used to analyze the systems in detail.

The approach was to use one compartment model analysis were the inputs, outputs, and losses were as follows:

Inputs	Outputs	Losses
Imported feeds	Milk	Leaching
Imported fertilizer	Animals	Runoff
Legume fixation		Volatilization
		Denitrification

The system is represented mathematically for each nutrient as

dN/dt = Inputs - Output - Losses	(1)
dP/dt = Inputs - Output - Losses	(2)
dK/dt = Inputs – Output – Losses	(3)

Where the change in nitrogen (dN/dt), phosphorus (dP/dt) and potassium (dK/dt) balances are a function of the inputs, outputs and losses.

Inputs

Dry matter production for each pasture was taken from Leborgne (1980), Duran (1992) and from the data collected monitoring pasture yields at the Research Station. Percentages of clover and legumes in the pastures were taken from the paddocks for the different years and type of pastures average. For models IV and V possible yield and dry matter production of crops and pastures, composition of the pastures, use of fertilizer, feed introduced and used in the farm, slurry composition and soil chemical properties were monitored.

Nitrogen (N) fixation from legumes was assumed to be 1 kg of N for every 30 kg of dry matter produced by the legume as it was calculated through a method with isotopic nitrogen ¹⁵N for Uruguayan conditions and different legumes (Garcia et al., 1994).

Fertilizer inputs were based on the recommendations usually used for models I through III. Fertilizer inputs for models IV and V are the average of the rates of fertilizer used during the trial period.

Feed inputs from outside the farm are mainly grains and feed by products. The total amounts were described by Duran (2000). For models I and II wheat bran was used as the main feed concentrate. For models III and IV wheat bran and grains as corn and sorghum were used in a proportion of 2:1. In model V a complete ration with at least 1.8 Mcal. of net energy of lactation (Mcal NE_L/kg DM) and 16.5 % crude protein and wheat bran was used in a proportion 82:18. Wheat bran in model V was mainly used for dry cows or cows in late lactation. For heifers and calves wheat bran is the main concentrate used although the amounts differ among the models according to the stocking rate and how intensively managed it is (Mieres, com pers). No roughage is considered to come from outside the farm.

<u>Outputs</u>

Milk production per hectare is reported by Duran (2000) (Table 1). A 3.1 % of crude protein in milk is used for every model, which corresponds to the average value monitored. Phosphorus values in milk data from the literature vary from 0.085 % (Wu and Satter, 2000) to 0.1 % (Flynn and Powers, 1985; NRAES, 1995). For this study 0.1 % of phosphorus in milk will be used since its near partial values that have been quantified in some mineral monitoring in milk in Uruguay (unpublished data). The percentage for potassium in milk is quite constant for several different environments (Sasser et al., 1966) and 0.15 % of K in milk is used.

Cows and calves that are sold are also the nutrient outputs of each of the systems. Replacement was calculated the same for all the models and is 25 % of the adult stock. Because each system has a different calving rate and stock composition (Table 1) animals sold per hectare are shown in Table 2.

The composition of N, P and K as percentage of empty body weight for the culled cows were 2.53, 0.72 and 0.19 respectively (ARC, 1980; NRAES, 1995). For young stock the body composition in percentage of N, P and K used was 2.88, 0.83 and 0.22 % respectively (ARC, 1980). The weights at which animals are sold were 500 kg for model I and II and 570 kg for models III, IV and V. All male calves and females in excess of those needed for replacement were calculated as sold 10 days after birth at an average weight of 40 kg. No hay, silage or grain is considered to be sold from the farm.

Losses

Under Uruguayan conditions animals spend most of their time grazing so most of the urine and the manure are left in the paddocks. Although it is not considered here there are expected differences among paddocks in the different models. It is considered that the more intensive models (III to V) had a better distribution since the management is tighter and animals spend less time in each paddock and grazing strips are more controlled.

To quantify the type fecal and urinary excretion, each model was simulated and calculated using the Cornell Net Carbohydrate and Protein System (CNCPS 4.0.0.31;Cornell University, NY), with the tabulated values that appear in the Uruguayan nutritional guide for ruminants (Cozzolino et al., 1994) and when available, feed analysis done in the nutrition laboratory at La Estanzuela Experiment Station. The CNCPS

software was selected since it has been validated for type of pastures and situations similar to that of Uruguay (Kolver et al., 1996). For each model a different simulation was done for each type of animal (milking cow, dry, heifers and calves) and for three different seasons (fall-winter, spring and summer) and afterwards the annual excretion was calculated by addition. Results of N, P and K major routes of excretions and total amounts are shown in Table 3, 4 and 5 respectively.

Ammonia N losses by volatilization from urine may vary from 15 to 25% (Haynes and Williams, 1993). We used the value of 22%, which is the value that Ryden et al (1987) measured at a mean air temperature of 16 °C. For N losses in dung through ammonia volatilization the same authors measured almost 1 % and it is the value used.

Some measurements by Malcuori et al. (1999) show that 8 to 12 % of the total manure is collected in the milking parlor. However, management in the milking parlor is very important and animal excretions may vary according to the treatment animals receive. Animal nervousness, failure to keep the daily routine, and management may vary manure and urine outputs in the milking parlor. For this study we will use 12%. In models I and II no recycling to paddocks is done and usually dairy waste from the milking parlor is lost to the field, therefore, it will be taken into account as nutrient loss. The reason for this is during the time these models were developed there was no legal concern and the investment in manure recovery systems was too high for the farmer. The use of dairy waste with a high carbon (C) to nitrogen ratio (30:1) which was incorporated into the soil just before a winter crop (oat, barley or wheat) has decreased dry matter yields significantly (La Manna et al., 2001) and therefore for models III, IV and V it is calculated that excretions from the milking parlor are stored in a lagoon for later

application during spring, summer and early fall. The estimated N losses by volatilization from lagoons range from 40 to 70 % so we used a value of 60%. No losses of K and P are assumed by storage for models III, IV and V. However, since animals are moved from and back to the paddocks to the milking parlor 2 times a day each usually through a cattle trail that is not used for other purposes it was assumed the cattle spent 1 hour per day there. Assuming a fecal and urinary distribution through out the day is possible to estimate this loss in 4 % of the excretions of the dairy cows.

Application of manure to the soil without immediate incorporation can lead to losses of up to 40% of the N applied. This is the amount we assume to be lost in application to the field.

Losses from the field in Uruguay have not been divided between leaching, and denitrification, however, it is estimated that a typical N loss under normal annual grazing crops is 60 kg N ha per crop (Sawchik, personal communication). In the case of crop pasture rotations with a 50% of the time under pasture Diaz Rosello (1992) measured an average loss of 20.5 to 23.6 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ with a N fertilization of 16.7 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in 36-yr trial. For P losses by erosion in the same crop pasture production systems Moron and Kiehl (1992) measured losses of 7.5 kg and of 11.46 P kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for crops alone with fertilization (case of model I). However, the losses measured by Diaz Rosello (1992) and Moron and Kiehl (1992) where under conditions of soil tillage and maximum erosion. For this study 70% of the values proposed above for the type of pastures will be used. These losses are reported as soil and tillage since proper identification of what type of loss is not possible.

Losses of potassium beyond the root zone in soils from urine can range from 0 to 46% of the total urine depending more on physical conditions of the soil rather than the soil chemical, mineral characteristics and moisture content (Williams et al., 1990). This type of loss called preferential loss is assumed in this work to be a 5% of the potassium in the urine according to the type of soils (clay with an impermeable B horizon) where the trial was carried out.

Efficiency of nutrient use was calculated as amount of nutrients in the output divided by input of the same nutrient multiplied by 100. Surplus was calculated by the subtraction of inputs minus outputs for each nutrient.

Results and Discussion

Nitrogen. Inputs increased in all the farms according to the intensity of production (Table 6). Except for model I, which does not use legumes as do the other models, legume N, is an important percentage of the total inputs (74.5, 77.9, 67 and 60 for models II, III, IV and V). This is logical in grasslands systems that rely in legumes like the ones found in Argentina, New Zealand and Uruguay. In other systems where the prices of feed and fertilizer are lower, feed is the most important input of N to the farm (Klausner, 1995). Under Uruguayan economic conditions legume N is of great importance achieving at low cost production and therefore have a competitive product for export. As stocking rate increases, the concentrates that are used for cows increase in importance. In model V, feed for the cows is the second major input while for the other models fertilizer is the second major input. The more important N output is milk for all the models since there is

not grain, hay or silage. Milk output is the major N output in most of the NY dairies also (Bouldin and Klausner, 1998).

All the models except model I show a low utilization of nitrogen of between 16.9 to 22.2 % (Table 6). Model I is a low input-output system and is not profitable under the actual economic conditions of Uruguay. Also from a nitrogen stand point model I is not sustainable. For this model to be sustainable improved pastures with legumes should be included since only N fertilizer doesn't improve soil N in the long run (Whitehead, 1995), while improved pastures increases soil OM and therefore increases soil total N (Diaz, 1992). There is an increment in nitrogen efficiency of utilization from Model II through V mainly explained for a higher milk production and a higher number of animals that are culled. These two factors, milk produced and animals culled, are the result of better management and a more balanced feeding for dairy cows which increases efficiency per hectare (Table 6). The increase in stocking rate allows a better utilization of the grass and an even distribution of urine and feces. In this modeling the assumption is that the increase in DM per hectare is not so much because of yield increment but rather for better forage utilization and more hectares under improved pastures. This has been shown in several trials and our monitoring of the prototype systems in the Dairy Unit. The monitoring results of models IV and V resulted in an estimated 75 and 82% of forage utilization, respectively, which is high for Uruguay.

Typical farms in the United Kingdom show total N inputs between 300-400 kg N ha^{-1} with offtakes of 60-80 kg N ha^{-1} (Jarvis et al., 1996; Peel et al., 1997) which is to a similar efficiency as the models showed above but with a greater surplus per ha. Not all the excess is lost to the environment, N may accumulate between 30 to100 kg ha^{-1} yr⁻¹ in

the N soil pool (Aarts et al., 1992; Berentsen and Giesen, 1995). However, in the long run this accumulation may led to more leaching losses of N into groundwater (Goh and Williams, 1999).

Phosphorus. The first two models I and II are low inputs low outputs. The efficiency of utilization of P inputs is 40 and 33 % respectively (Table 7). Analyzing Models III to V there is an increase in P efficiency mainly due to high stocking rate, which allows better grass utilization and higher milk production. Reproductive performance also explains in part this improvement in efficiency since more animals are sold for outside the farm. Despite the fact that Model V has a greater stocking rate per ha, the use of a more balanced feed intake increases the efficiency of P utilization and at the same time, the net income per ha in more than doubled.

Similar models for dairy farms in New Zealand, England and the Netherlands resulted in a P efficiency of 17.8, 38.2 and 33.3 % respectively and the total P that stayed in the farm was 49, 26.7 and 32 kg P ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Goh and Williams, 1999). The net gain of P in the soils of all the models eventually will increase until the possibility of runoff and soil erosion increases and therefore, the possibility of eutrophication of waterways increases. In Uruguay levels of P in soils are from 3 to 20 ppm. Most of the soils have a low P fertility so its not a problem.

Potassium. Potassium shows a deficiency for all the models considered. Although nutrient efficiency for models I and IV are 45 and 64% which is given by a low inputoutput for model I and a high use of wheat bran per ha as imported feed for model IV,

final balance is stillnegative. Farmers in Uruguay are not used to utilize K as a fertilizer and the soils have high levels of K that dissimulate the losses. Eventually potassium in the long run will become a key component for sustainability. The cost of being sustainable in the future for all the models will depend on close monitored of soil status, even distribution of the waste in the different paddocks and the use of potassium fertilizer.

In Dutch farms there is imported around 108 kg of K ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and 30 kg of K ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ of feed with a utilization from 10 to 30% (Aarts et al., 1992). Similar utilizations of k were observed in dairy farms of New York (Bouldin and Klausner, 1998).

Implications

The five models studied show the big trends of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium in the farm for five models that differ in intensity of stocking rate, supplementation, and soil and forage utilization in Uruguay. For N and P there is a surplus that increases as intensity increases. However, the efficiency of use also increases with intensity. Potassium on the other hand is deficient and may be a key nutrient for future sustainability.

Literature cited

- Aarts, H. F. M., E. E. Biewinga, and H. van Keulen. 1992. Dairy farming systems based on efficient nutrient management. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science 40:285-299.
- ARC. 1980. Nutrient Requirements of Ruminant Livestock. CAB, London, UK.
- Beegle, D. B., O. T. Carton, and J. S. Bailey. 2000. Nutrient management planning: justification, theory, practice. J. Environ. Qual. 29:72-79.
- Berentsen, P. B. M. and G. W. J. Giesen. 1995. An Environmental-Economic Model at Farm Level to Analyse Institutional and Technical Change in Dairy Farming. Agricultural Systems 49:153-175.
- Bouldin, D. R. and S. Klausner. 1998. Managing nutrients in manure: general principles and application s to dairy manure in New York. In: J. L. Hatfield and B. A. Stewart (Eds.) Animal waste utilization: effective use of manure as a soil resource. pp. 65-88. Ann Arbor Press, Chelsea,MI.
- Cozzolino, D., G. Pigurina, M. Methol, Y. Acosta, J. Mieres, and H. Bassewitz. 1994. Guia para la alimentacion de rumiantes. INIA, Montevideo.
- Diaz, R. 1992. Evolucion del nitrogeno total en rotaciones con pasturas. In: A. Moron and W. Baethgen (Eds.) Revista INIA de Investigaciones Agronomicas No 1 Tomo 1. pp. 27-35. INIA, Montevideo, Uruguay.
- Duran, H. 1992. Productividad y alternativas de rotaciones forrajeras para produccion de leche. In: A. Moron and W. Baethgen (Eds.) Revista INIA de Investigaciones Agronomicas No 1 Tomo 2. pp. 189-204. INIA, Montevideo, Uruguay.
- Duran, H. 2000. Cambios tecnologicos e intensificacion en los sistemas pastoriles de produccion de leche de Uruguay. Congreso de la Asociacion Latinoamericana de Produccion Animal.
- Flynn, A. and P. Powers. 1985. Nutritional aspects of minerals in bovine and human milks. In: P. F. Fox (Ed.) Developments in Dairy chemistry 3. Lactose and minor constituents. pp. 183-215. Elsevier Applied Science Publishers, New York.
- Garcia, J., C. Labandera, D. Pastorini, and S. Curbelo. 1994. Fijacion de nitrogeno por leguminosas en Estanzuela. In: Nitrogeno en Pasturas. pp. 13-18. INIA, Montevideo, Uruguay.
- Goh, K. M. and P. H. Williams. 1999. Comparative nutrients budgets of temperate grazed pastoral thesis. In: E. M. A. Smaling, O. Oenema, and L. O. Fresco (Eds.)
 Nutrient disequilibria in agroecosystems concepts and case studies. pp. 265-294.
 CABI Publishing, London.

- Haynes, R. J. and P. H. Williams. 1993. Nutrient cycling and soil fertility in the grazed pasture ecosystem. Advances in Agronomy 49:119-199.
- Jarvis, S. C., R. J. Wilkins, and B. F. Pain. 1996. Opportunities for reducing the environmental impact of dairy farming managements: a systems approach. Grass Forage Sci. 51:21-31.
- Klausner, S. 1995. Nutrient management planning. In: K. Steele (Ed.) Animal Waste and the Land-water interfase. pp. 383-391. CRC Lewis Publishers, Boca raton.
- Kolver, E. S., M. C. Barry, J. W. Penno, and L. D. Muller. 1996. Evaluation of the Cornell Net Carbohydrate and Protein System for dairy cows fed pasture-based diets . Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production. 56:251-254.
- La Manna, A., H. Duran, and J. Mieres. 2001. Uso de efluentes en tambos. Montevideo, Talleres Gráficos "Don Bosco". Seminario Internacional "Medio ambiente y Producción Lechera" Noviembre 2000. MVOTMA. 105-115.
- Leborgne, R. 1983. Antecedentes técnicos y metodología para presupuestación en establecimientos lecheros. Informe de campo. Ed. Agropecuaria Hemisferio Sur SRL, Montevideo, Uruguay.
- Malcuori, E., J. Gesto, M. Apa, A. Aguerre, D. Anchieri, and E. De Torres. 1999e. Guia para el tratamiento de efluentes en predios lecheros. CONAPROLE, DINAMA y Facultad de Veterinaria, Montevideo, Uruguay.
- Moron, A. and J. C. Kiehl. 1992f. Dinamicas del P en tres sistemas agricolas en el suroeste de Uruguay. In: A. Moron and W. Baethgen (Eds.) Revista INIA de Investigaciones Agronomicas No 1 Tomo 1. pp. 61-84. INIA, Montevideo, Uruguay.

NRAES. 1995. Estimating a mass nutrient balance. NRAES-103, Ithaca, NY.

- Peel, S., B. J. Chambers, R. Harrison, and S. C. Jarvis. 1997. Reducing nitrogen emissions from complete dairy farm systems. In: S. C. Jarvis and B. F. Pain (Eds.) Gaseous nitrogen emissions from grassland. pp. 383-390. CABI, London.
- Powers, W. J. and H. H. Van Horn. 2001g. Nutritional Implications for Manure Nutrient Management Planning. Applied Engineering in Agriculture 17:27-39.
- Ryden, J. C., D. C. Whitehead, D. R. Lockyer, R. B. Thompson, J. H. Skinner, and E. A. Garwood. 1987h. Ammonia emission from grassland and livestock production systems in the UK. Environmental Pollution 48:173-184.
- Sasser, L. B., G. M. Ward, and J. E. Johnson. 1966. Variations in potassium concentration of cow's milk. J Dairy Sci 49:893-894.

- Tilman, D. 1999. Global environmental impacts of agricultural expansion: The need for sustainable and efficient practices. PNAS 96:5995-6000.
- Tyrell, H. F. Principles of animal nutrition and mass balance relative to nutrient management. 2001. Research Triangle Park, NC., College of Agriculture and Life Sciences, NCSU. International Symposium Proceedings Addressing animal production and environmental issues. 11-3-2001.

Whitehead, D. C. 1995. Grassland Nitrogen. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

- Williams, P. H., P. E. H. Gregg, and M. J. Hedley. 1990. Use of potassium bromide solutions to stimulate dairy cow urine flow and retention in pasture soils. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 33:489-495.
- Wu, Z. and L. D. Satter. 2000. Milk Production and Reproductive Performance of Dairy Cows Fed Two Concentrations of Phosphorus for Two Years. J. Dairy Sci. 83:1052-1063.

Models:	I	II	Ш	IV	V	
			· • •			
ROTATION	no	no	yes	yes	yes	
Improved Pastures with legumes	٥	50	65	(0)	(0	
(% of total area)	0	50	65	00	00	
Dry Matter /ha	very low	v medium	high	max	máx	
Use of Hay	very lov	v high	low	very low	none	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			·			
Concentrate(kg/cow)	660	420	670	1200	1600	
" (kg/ha)	231	252	469	1200	1712	
Staaling rate (animale (ha)						
Conver	0.3	0.5	07	1.0	1.07	
Heifers 2 3	0.5	0.5 75 0.125	0.7	1.0	1.07	
Heifers 1.2	0.07	75 0.125 75 0.125	0 175	0.25	0.268	
Colves	0.07	0.125 15 0.125	0.175	0.25	0.200	
Calves	0.07	5 0.125	0.175	0.25	0.208	
Milk (liters/cow)	2200	3800	4500	4700	6315	
" (liters/ha)	760	2000	3100	4700	6700	
Calving Season	continuous	variable	fall 50%	fall 50 %	fall 100%	
Mating	bull	bull	bull / A I	ΔΤ	ΔΤ	
Calving interval(months)	18	16	14	13	13	
Eirst mating (age)	26	18 24	18 7/	12	15	
That mating (age)		10-2-4	10-24	10	1.5	
COST (U\$S/1t)		0.130	0.126	0.121	0.110	
Net Income U\$S/Ha (Liter at 0.18 U\$	SS)	100	167	277	469	
" " (liter at 0.14 U\$S)	20	43	89	201	

Table 1. Principal technical parameters for the 5 models

AI: artificial insemination; lt: liters; ha: hectares

Adapted from Duran 2000

Model	I	II	III	IV	V
Cows (culled)/ha	0.08	0.13	0.18	0.25	0.27
Calves/ha	0.12	0.25	0.43	0.67	0.72
			<u></u>		
					•
			•	•	
· · · · ·					
:					

Table 2. Annual sale of animals per hectare for the different models

2 54
2 54
3 54
J.J 4
3.51
7.02
3.90
0.10
4.00
8.32
4.57
2.90
5.76
8.18
3.94

models	Table 3. Tota	al excretion	of Nitrogen	and route	e of excreti	on for all t	he animals i	n the five
	models					·		· · · · · ·

Models	I	II	III	IV	V
P Excretion kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹			· · · · ·	· ·	
Dairy Cows					
Urine	0.06	0.12	0.19	0.32	0.32
Feces	1.74	4.03	6.21	12.91	11.44
Total	1.80	4.14	6.39	13.23	11.77
Dry Cows					
Urine	0.05	0.05	0.09	0.10	0.10
Feces	0.92	0.90	1.52	2.61	2.24
Total	0.97	0.94	1.61	2.71	2.34
Heifers and Calves					
Urine	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.11	0.11
Feces	0.59	0.99	1.13	2.95	3.54
Total	0.63	1.06	1.19	3.06	3.66
Total P excretion kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Urine	0.15	0.22	0.34	0.53	0.53
Feces	3.25	5.92	8.86	18.47	17.22
Total	3.40	6.14	9.20	19.00	17.75

Table 4. Total excretion of phosphorus and route of excretion for all the animals in the five models

Models	Ι	II	III	IV	V
K Excretion kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Dairy Cows					
Urine	10.34	21.85	31.51	60.60	40.10
Feces	4.16	8.41	12.74	23.73	19.77
Total	14.50	30.26	44.25	84.32	59.88
Dry Cows	S				
Urine	6.49	8.21	11.74	10.47	10.86
Feces	2.66	3.12	4.93	4.64	4.91
Total	9.15	11.33	16.68	15.11	15.84
Heifers and Calves					
Urine	7.23	9.43	7.65	19.40	20.08
Feces	2.73	3.69	2.79	7.09	3.56
Total	9.95	13.12	10.44	26.49	27.43
Total K excretion kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Urine	24.06	39.49	50.90	90.47	71.04
Feces	9.55	15.22	20.46	35.46	28.24
Total	33.61	54.71	71.36	125.93	99.28

Table 5. Total excretion of potassium and route of excretion for all the animals in the five models

	Ι	II	III	IV	V
Inputs kg N ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹				<u> </u>	
Feed Cows	4.88	5.32	8.72	22.53	38.58
Feed Heifers	0.04	0.14	0.39	1.28	1.81
Fertilizer	2.75	11.55	14.38	25.71	25.71
Legume Fixed	0.00	49.74	82.68	101.91	101.91
Total Inputs	7.67	66.75	106.16	151.43	168.02
Outputs kg N ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Milk	3.69	9.40	15.06	22.84	32.55
Culled Cows	0.95	1.58	2.52	3.61	3.86
Culled Calves	0.14	0.29	0.49	0.77	0.83
Total outputs	4.78	11 .2 7	18.08	27.21	37.24
Inputs – Outputs	2.89	55.48	88.08	124.21	130.78
Outputs/Inputs	0.623	0.169	0.170	0.180	0.222
Losses kg N ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Storage and parlor	1.64	3.06	2.94	5.74	5.55
Volatilization (excreta)	2.30	3.60	5.15	9.33	9.81
Cows trail	0.55	1.02	0.26	0.53	0.47
Tillage and soil	5.40	23.26	33.24	36.91	36.91
Total Losses	9.89	30.93	43.85	56.61	57.06
Input-outputs-losses	-6.99	24.54	44.23	67.60	73.72

Table 6. Mass balance for N for the five models (kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹)

<u> </u>	Ι	II	III	IV	V
Inputs kg P ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	, <u></u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u>. i</u> . <u></u> .		
Feed Cows	2.40	2.62	3.64	9.54	10.74
Feed Heifers	0.02	0.07	0.19	0.63	0.89
Fertilizer	0.87	5.06	10.05	10.15	10.15
Total Inputs	2.69	7.74	13.88	20.32	21.78
Outputs kg P ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Milk	0.76	2.00	3.10	4.70	6.70
Culled Cows	0.27	0.45	0.72	1.03	1.10
Culled Calves	0.04	0.08	0.14	0.22	0.24
Total outputs	1.07	2.53	3.96	5.95	8.04
Inputs – Outputs	1.62	5.21	9.92	14.37	13.75
Outputs/Inputs	0.398	0.330	0.285	0.293	0.369
Losses kg P ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Storage and parlor	0.22	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00
Tillage and soil	0.72	3.48	5.01	5.01	5.01
Cows trails	0.07	0.17	0.26	0.53	0.47
Total losses	1.01	4.15	5.27	5.54	5.49
Inputs-outputs-losses	0.61	1.07	4.65	8.83	8.26

Table 7. Mass balance for P for the five models (kg P ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹)

۶.,

Table 8 Mass balance for K for the five models (kg K ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹)

Models	I	II	III	IV	V
Inputs kg K ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	· · · ·	. <u></u>		<u> </u>	
Feed Cows	2.68	2.93	4.15	10.88	9.84
Feed Heifers	0.02	0.07	0.19	0.70	1.00
Fertilizer	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total Inputs	2.71	3.00	4.37	11.58	10.84
Outputs kg K ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Milk	1.14	3.00	4.65	7.05	10.05
Culled Cows	0.07	0.12	0.19	0.27	0.29
Culled Calves	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.06	0.06
Total outputs	1.22	3.14	4.88	7.38	10.40
Inputs – Outputs	1.48	-0.14	-0.51	4.20	-0.16
Outputs/Inputs	0.45	-1.05	-1.15	0.64	-1.02
Losses K kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹					
Storage and parlor	1.74	3.63	0.00	0.00	0.00
Cows trail	0.58	1.21	1.77	3.37	2.40
Preferential flow ¹	1.11	1.78	2.27	3.99	3.19
Total losses kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	3.43	6.62	4.04	7.36	5.59
Inputs-outputs-losses	-1.95	-6.76	-4.55	-3.17	-5.74

¹ Preferential flow amount of K in urine below the root zone

Alejandro Francisco La Manna

VITA

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis: FEEDING STRATEGIES AND NUTRIENT MANAGEMENT OF GRAZING CATTLE IN URUGUAY

Major Field: Animal Nutrition

Biographical:

- Personal data: Born in Montevideo, Uruguay on January 20, 1963. Son of Blanca and Antonio La Manna.
- Education: Graduated from the Universidad de la Republica, Facultad de Agronomia Montevideo Uruguay in October 1987, received Master of Science degree from Oklahoma State University in 1999. Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree with a major in Animal Nutrition at Oklahoma State University in May, 2002.
- Experience: Employed by the Instituto Nacional de Investigacion Agropecuaria (I.N.I.A.), La Estanzuela Experimental Station as research assistant, from 1991 to present. Employed by Oklahoma State University as graduate research assistant 1997 to May 2002. Consultant to the livestock industry in Uruguay, 1987 to 1997.
- Professional Memberships: Uruguayan Society of Agricultural Engineers. The Honor Society of Phi Kappa Phi, American Dairy Science Association and American Association of Animal Science